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Corp. John C. Myers, discharged November 6, 1862, disability.

Corp. George G. Cook, enlisted September 8, 1861 ; re-enlisted as veteran
January 1, 1864 ; died July 20, 1864, near Decatur, Georgia.

Corp. A. C. Smith, wounded March 7, 1862, at Pea Ridge; re-enlisted as
veteran January I, 1864, promoted sergeant.

Corp. A. C. Gunsalus, enlisted September 8, 1861.

Corp. Peter W. Oakly, wounded March 7, 1862, at Pea Ridge ; discharged
August 23, 1862, wounds.

Corp. James R. Curtis, enlisted September 3, 1861; re-enlisted as veteran
January 1, 1864 ; captured May 27, 1864, at Dallas, Georgia.

Corp. John A. Lumsden, enlisted July 10, 1862; re-enlisted as veteran
February 18, 1862. :

Corp. John Bradley, enlisted October 3, 1861; wounded March 7, 1862,
at Pea Ridge; died March 22, 1862, at Springfield, Missouri, of wounds.

Musician John C. Eaton, enlisted September 5, 1861; discharged March
11, 1862, disability.

Wagoner L. W. Watrous, enlisted August 28, 1861 ; discharged June &,
1862, disability. '

Andrus, H. J., enlisted August 27, 1861 ; re-enlisted as veteran January 1,
1864 ; promoted corporal.

Avery, John T., enlisted September 4, 1861; wounded March 7, 1862, at
Pea Ridge, at Vicksburg, June 5, 1863, and at Atlanta August 18, 1364 ; re-
enlisted as veteran January 1, 1864 ; discharged March 23, 1863, wounds.

Andrus, William, enlisted September o, 1861 ; killed in battle at Pea
Ridge, March 7, 1862.

Barnhouse, John, enlisted August 27, 1861I; discharged May 13, 1862,
sickness.

Brown, Volney N., enlisted August 27, 186I; re-enlisted as veteran
January 1, 1864.

Brown, J. H., enlisted September 5, 1861 ; re-enlisted as veteran January
1, 1864.

Barlow, Edwin, enlisted August 27, 1361; re-enlisted as veteran January
1, 1864.

Brewer, William W., enlisted September 8, 1861; wounded March 7,
1862, at Pea Ridge. : '

Benedict, David L., enlisted August 27, 1861 ; died February 23, 1863,
at Young’s Point, Louisiana.

Benedict, M. R., enlisted September 19, 1861 ; wounded March 7, 1362,
at Pea Ridge.
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Broadbent, George, enlisted September 8, 1861 ; re-enlisted as veteran
January 1, 1864.

Crain, W. J., enlisted August 27, 1861 ; re-enlisted as veteran January
I, 1864 ; wounded June 27, 1864, at Kenesaw Mountain; died February 29,
1865, wounds.

Carmichael, William H., enhsted September 6, 1861 ; killed in battle of
Pea Ridge, March 7, 1862.

Coon, Isaac H., enlisted August 28, 1861 ; re-enlisted as veteran January
1, 1864.

Downs, David H., enlisted August 27, 1861; died December 24, 1861,
at Pacific, Missouri.

Dildine, James, enlisted August 27, 1861.

Eggan, N..S., enlisted Aucrust 4, 1861; died May 14, 1863, at Milliken’s
Bend.

Finch, Laban, enlisted August 27, 1861 ; died February 27, 1862, at Cross
Hollow, Arkansas.

Franklin, James L., enlisted August 27, 1861; died November 3,. 1861
at Pacific, Missouri. .

Finney, William H., enlisted August 27, 1861; killed in action Ma;k*,zz
1863, at Vicksburg.

Gale, Luther H., enlisted September 8, 1861. :

Gardner, W. G., enlisted September 5, 1861; discharged February 17,
1863, disability.

Gardner, A. J., enlisted September 5, 1861; died March 16, 1863, at
Young’s Point, Louisiana.

Gardner, Joseph J., enlisted September 5, 1861; wounded at Pea Ridge
March 7, 1862, at Vicksburg May 22, 1863 ; re-enlisted as veteran January I,
1864.

Gee, George W., enlisted September 5, 1861.

German, David, enlisted September 5, 1861 ; killed battle of Pea Ridge,
March 7, 1862.

Hall, E. G,, enlisted September 5, 1861 ; wounded at Cherokee, Alabama
October 29, 1863 ; discharged June 29, 1864, wounds.

Hartwell, F. G., enlisted September 5, 1861 ; re-enlisted as veteran Janu-
ary 1, 1864. )

Hill, George, enlisted September 5, 1861 ; re-enlisted as veteran J'anuary
1, 1864 ; promoted corporal, captured May 27, 1864, at Dallas, Georgia.

Harper, James L., enlisted September 12, 1861.
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Harper, George W., enlisted September 12, 1861; re-enlisted as veteran
January 1, 1864 ; wounded June 28, 1864, at Kenesaw Mountain.

Hough, E. G., enlisted September 3, 1861 ; wounded at Pea Ridge March
7, 1862; re-enlisted as veteran January 1, 1864.

Hancock, A. J., enlisted September 3, 1861; died April 23, 1862, at
Forsyth, Missouri.

Hole, George, enlisted August 28, 1861; wounded at Pea Ridge March
7, 1862 ; discharged October 13, 1862, disability.

Huntzing, Joseph B., enlisted September 4, 1861 ; wounded at Pea Ridge
March 7, 1862; died December 4, 1862, at Helena, Arkansas.

Herriman, C., enlisted September 8, 1861 ; re-enlisted as veteran Janu-
ary 1, 1864, wounded.

Kinsey, David, enlisted September 3, 1861 ; died ]anuary 6, 1862, at Pa-
cific, Missouri. '

Keasey, William B., enlisted September 5, 1861; died March 23, 1864,
at Benton Barracks.

Kearney, Isaac, enlisted September 5, 1861 ; re-enlisted as veteran Janu-
ary 1, 1864.

- Knight, John, enlisted September 5, 1861 ; wounded at Pea Ridge March
7, 1862 ; discharged for wounds August 14, 1862.

- Lackey, Augustus, enlisted September 5, 1861; died April 22, 1362, at
Forsyth, Missouri.

Larrabee, F. L., enlisted August 5, 1861 ; died March g, 1862, of wounds
received at Pea Ridge.

Lee, Martin, enlisted September 5, 1861 ; wounded at Pea Ridge March 7,
1862, discharged for wounds August 27, 1863.

Lee, Jasper, enlisted December 26, 1863.

Lee, Albert, enlisted September 5, 1861.

Larson, Hans, enlisted September g, 1861 ; re-enlisted as veteran' Janu-
ary 1, 1864; promoted corporal; wounded March 21, 1865, at Bentonville,
North Carolina.

Myers, G. W., enlisted September, 1861 ; discharged April 19, 1862, dis-
ability.

Munger, William H., enlisted September 4, 1861 ; wounded at Pea Ridge
March 7, 1862; discharged April 5, 1863, disability.

Munger, Charles, enlisted September 5, 1861; wounded at Pea Ridge
March 7, 1862.

Mead, C. W., enlisted September 5, 1861 ; died March 3, 1863, at Mem-
phis.
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McAlavay, Charles, enlisted September 5, 1861 ; died November 17, 1862,
at St. Louis. '

Merry, E. H., enlisted September 4, 1861; wounded March 19, 1863, at
Vicksburg; discharged July 17, 1863.

Merry, Jeremiah, enlisted September 4, 1861.

Millar, C. H., transferred to Company G Third Infantry by promotion to
captain. :

Nicholas, George, enlisted September 8, 1861; died February 3, 1863, at
Young’s Point, Louisiana.

' Orth, John, enlisted September 28, 1861 ; wounded at Pea Ridge March
7, 1862, re-enlisted as veteran January 1, 1864.

Osgood, Lew, enlisted September 8, 1861 ; re-enlisted as veteran January
1, 1864.

O’Brien, M., enlisted September 4, 1861 ; wounded at Pea Ridge March
7, 1862 ; discharged August 27, 1862, wounds.

Pratt, E. L., enlisted August 28, 1861 ; discharged September 28, 1862,
disability.

Penrod, F., enlisted September 6, 1861 ; died at Vicksburg July 16, 1863.

Riley, Miles, enlisted September 8, 1861 ; re-enlisted as veteran January I,
1864 ; died April 4, 1864, at West Union.

Smith, John, enlisted August 28, 1861 ; died October 21, 1863, at Wind-
sor.

Searles, Orlando, enlisted September 4, 1861 ; re-enlisted as veteran Janu-
ary 1, 1864.

Snyder, Daniel, enlisted September 12, 1861; discharged July 19, 1862,
disability.

Sawyer, C. V., enlisted September 19, 1861 ; re-enlisted as veteran Febru-
ary 8, 1864; wounded at Resaca, Georgia, May 15, 1864, and at Jonesboro,
Georgia, August 31, 1864.

Thorpe, E. W, enlisted August 28, 1861 ; discharged April 24, 1862, dis-
ability.

Thompson, John B., enlisted September 6, 1861 ; discharged February 16,
1862, disability.

Tollifson, Louis, enlisted September 10, 1861 ; died December 4, 1861, at
Pacific, Missouri. ‘

Webster, William B., enlisted September 12, 1861.

Wilcox, H. R., enlisted September 8, 1861; died May 5, 1862, at For-
syth, Missouri.



FAYETTE COUNTY, IOWA. 205

Walsh, C. J., enlisted December 14, 1861; wounded Muarch 7, 1862, at
Pea Ridge ; discharged June 1oth, wounds.

Hobson, N. J., enlisted July 10, 1862; died November 8, 1862, at Helena,
Arkansas.

Barnhouse, H. M., enlisted September 17, 1861 ; transferred from Com-
pany E; discharged May 13, 1862, disability.

Andrus, D. P., enlisted February 29, 1864; wounded May 27, 1864, at
Dallas, Georgia; discharged March 10, 1865, wounds.

Broadbent, R. H., enlisted February 26, 1864.

Briggs, Orion, enlisted February 29, 1864.

Barr, William, enlisted February 29, 1864 ; wounded March 27, 1864, at
Dallas, Georgia.

Bartlett, John W., enlisted February 23, 1864; wounded September 2,
1864, at Lovejoy’s Station, Georgia.

Briggs, George S., enlisted February 29, 1864 ; discharged June 26, 1863,
disability. '

Eaton, Edwin, enlisted February 29, 1864.

Erickson, Ed., enlisted February 235, 1864.

Goeson, Lars, enlisted February 23, 1864.

Lyon, H. P., enlisted February 22, 1864.

Morley, William R., enlisted February 29, 1864.

Peters, William R., enlisted February 29, 1864 ; wounded May 14, 1864,
at Resaca, Georgia.

Peters, John F., enlisted February 29, 1864.

Peterson, Thomas, enlisted February 27, 1864.

Richardson, S. H., enlisted February 29, 1864.

Strong, Frank, enlisted February 29, 1864.

Smith, John W., enlisted February 27, 1864.

Shepheard, A. P., enlisted February 29, 1864; died July 30, 1864, at
Rome, Georgia.

Ward, George W., enlisted February 22, 1864.

White, George W., enlisted February 22, 1864 ; wounded September 4,
1864, at Jonesboro, Georgia; discharged March 23, 18635, wounds.

TWELFTH INFANTRY.

The Twelfth Regiment was recruited late in the summer of 1861, and
organized at Camp Union, Dubuque, Towa, and mustered into the service of
the United States November 23, 1861, by Captain Washington, Thirteenth
United States Infantry.
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The first active service in which the regiment was engaged was at Fort
Donelson, where it was assigned to Cook’s brigade, of Smith’s division, and
was engaged in the battles of the 13th, 14th and 15th of February, which re-
sulted in the capture of the fort and its garrison on the 16th, the enemy sur-
rendering themselves prisoners of war. During most of the time, the boys
were exposed to a cold rain and sleet, and, not being permitted to have any
fire, suffered very much. '

At Shiloh, the Twelfth was brigaded with the Second, Seventh and Four-
teenth Iowa Regiments, called the Iowa Brigade, commanded by General Tut-
tle, Second Iowa Infantry, Gen. W. W. Wallace commanding the division,
and were in position near a field beyond General Hurlburt's headquarters.
Here it remained in line of battle from six o'clock A. M. until about four
P. M., during which time the enemy made several bold charges, and was re-
pulsed.with great loss in killed and wounded.

The Twelfth and Fourteenth Regiments being in support of a battery,
were surrounded, and after several hours desperate fighting, in which three
or four regiments contended against the whole rebel force, the Twelfth, hav-
ing its commanding officer, Colonel Woods, severely wounded, with sixteen
men killed, and ninety-seven wounded, with all hopes of retreat or succor
cut off. was obliged to surrender at six o'clock P. M. Number of men cap-
tured from the regiment, about four hundred.

The men of the Eighth, Twelfth and Fourteenth Iowa Regiments, who
were not captured, were organized into a regiment called the “Union Bri-
gade,” of which regiment the Twelfth formed Companies E and K.

The Union Brigade was engaged and took a very prominent part in the
battle of Corinth, October 3 and 4, 1862, the Twelfth Towa Iosmcr three
killed and twenty-five wounded out of eighty men engaged.  After pur-
suing the enemy as far as Ripley, Mississippi, the regiment returned to Cor-
inth, where it was engaged in building fortifications until December 18,
1862, when orders were received from the war department discontinuing the
organization known as the Union Brigade, and ordering men of the Eighth,
Twelfth and Fourteenth Iowa to proceed to Davenport, Iowa, to reorganize
their regiments, the prisoners having been paroled October 18, 1862, and ex-
changed November 10, 1862.

The detachment of the Twelfth Iowa arrived at Jackson, Tennessee,
where it was found that Forrest had destroyed the railroad from Uniontown,
and was threatening Jackson. The detachment was at once ordered to the
defense of the place, and remained four days, when it was ordered to open
the railroad to Columbus, Kentucky, which delayed the home-going until
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the 4th of January. It arrived at Columbus on that day, and was ordered
once more to Davenport, where it arrived on the 7th of January, 1863, and
from there it was ordered, on the 27th of March, to proceed to St. Louis,
Missouri, there to rejoin the regiment; and as soon as organized was ordered
to report to General Grant in the field, near Vicksburg, Mississippi, and served
during the entire siege, participating in all the principal engagements until
the 22d of June, when it was sent to Black River, to guard the rear from an
attack by Johnson. Vicksburg was surrendered July 4, 1863. ,

The Twelfth was engaged in the battle near Tupelo, Mississippi, on-
the 13th, 14th and 15th of July, 1864, losing nine men killed, fifty-four
wounded, and one missing, out of two hundred engaged.

In June, 1864, Companies A and F, numbering fiity-five men, under
command of Capt. J. R. C. Hunter, while stationed at the mouth of White
River, Arkansas, were attacked by six hundred rebels of Marmaduke’s com-
mand, about daylight on the 22d of June, but taking refuge behind a slight
stockade, they repulsed the enemy, he leaving twenty killed and mortally
wounded on the field. The loss of Compames A and F was one killed and
four wounded.

The regiment fought bravely in the battle of Nashville, and received
special mention by brigade and division commanders for good service. Corp.
Luther P. Kaltenbach, of Company F, and Private A. J. Sloan, of Company
H, each captured a rebel flag, for which they were rewarded with medals by
the secretary of war.

The regiment marched in pursuit of Hood, with the army, to Clinton,
on the Tennessee river, thence by steamer to Eastport, Mississippi, arriving
there on the 7th of January, 1865.

Here Lieut.-Col. John H. Stibbs got a leave of -absence for thirty days,
to visit Towa, for the purpose of recruiting the regiment. He remained in
Iowa but a short time, when he went to Washington, and, through the in-
fluence of friends, secured a position on a military commission, where he
remained until after the war closed.

Maj. Samuel G. Knee assumed command of the reolment and retained
it during the remaining period of the service.

From Eastport, the regiment was ordered to New Orleans, then em-
barked with the forces under General Canby, on the expedition against
Mobile; it was in the front line during the siege of Spanish Fort, which
was the last service rendered by the regiment.

During the service, the gallant Twelfth was in twenty-three battles, was
under fire one hundred and twelve days, and had ninety-five men killed in
battle.
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The regiment was mustered out at Memphis January 20, 1866.

Surg. Charles C. Parker, commissioned October 25, 1861; resigned
April 19, 1862.

Asst. Surg. James Barr, enlisted as corporal September 15, 1861; pro-
moted to hospital steward, then assistant surgeon September 15, 1865.

COMPANY C.

Captain William W. Warner, commissioned October 24, 1861 ; missing
at Shiloh; wounded at Vicksburg, May 19, 1863; died at Memphis, Decem-
ber 12, 1863.

Capt. William L. Henderson enlisted as private September 22, 1861;
promoted to first sergeant; then first lieutenant, January 23, 1865 ; commis—
sioned captain November 22, 1865 ; mustered out as first lieutenant.

First Lieut. David B. Henderson, commissioned October 24, 1861;
wounded at Fort Donelson and Corinth; resigned February 16, 1863; bre-
vetted lieutenant-colonel.

First Lieut. Henry J. Grannis, enlisted as sergeant September 15, 1861 ;
captured at Shiloh April 6, 1862; commissioned first lieutenant November
22, 1863 ; mustered out as second sergeant.

Second Lieut. Aaron M. Smith, commissioned October 24, 1861; re-
signed June 7, 1862.

Sergt. Gilbert Hazlet, enlisted October 2, 1861; captured at Shiloh
April 6, 1862 ; discharged December 8, 1862, disability.

Sergt. Emory Clark, enlisted September 24, 1861 ; captured at Shiloh
April 6, 1862; re-enlisted as veteran December 23, 1863, wounded and
captured at Tupelo, Mississippi, July 14, 1864.

Sergt. James Stewart, enlisted October 2, 1861; captured at Shiloh
April 6, 1862 ; re-enlisted as veteran December 25, 1863; wounded at Tupelo
July 14, 1864. '

Corp. David Conner, enlisted September 24, 1861 ; re-enlisted as veteran
December 23, 1863; wounded at Nashville December 16, 1864; died Jan-
uary 3, 1863, of wounds.

Corp. Thomas Henderson, enlisted September 24, 1861 ; killed in battle
at Shiloh April 6, 1862.

Corp. P. R. Ketchum, enlisted September 24, 1861 ; wounded at Shiloh
April 6, 1862; re-enlisted as veteran January I, 1304.

Corp. George S. Durno, enlisted September 15, 1861; discharged, disa-
bility.
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Corp. Daniel B. Warner, enlisted October 1 3, 1861; captured at Shiloh
April 6, 1862; died at Macon, Georgia, September g, 1862.

Musician Sumner Hartshorn, enlisted October 6, 1861; discharged
August 19, 1862, disability. A

Abbott, E. J., enlisted October 6, 1861; captured at battle of Shiloh
April 6, 1862; re-enlisted as veteran December 23, 1863.

Ayres, James L., enlisted September 22, 1861; captured at battle of
Shiloh April 6, 1862; died at Macon, Georgia, October 3, 1862.

Adams, Edward, enlisted September 22, 1861; captured at battle of
Shiloh April 6, 1862; wounded March 19, 1863, at Vicksburg.

Beck, Samuel C., enlisted September 15, 1861 ; captured at battle of
Shiloh April 6, 1862.

Blanchard, S. S., enlisted September 1 5, 1861; discharged October 4,
1862, disability. : :

Ballinger, John W., enlisted September 13, 1861; captured at Shiloh
April 6, 1862; discharged December 8, 1862.

Brown, A., enlisted September 19, 1861; discharged June 19, 1862;
disability.

Brown, J. T., enlisted September 19, 1861; discharged August 23,
1862, disability.

Bysong, John W., enlisted October 6, 1861 ; captured at Shiloh April
6, 1862; re-enlisted as veteran December 23, 1863.

Baker, Joseph D., enlisted October 7, 1861; promoted to corporal; re-
enlisted as veteran December 25, 1863.

Brown, George, enlisted October 7, 1861 ; re-enlisted as veteran Decem-
ber 25, 1863. .

Burrows, George A., enlisted October 7, 1861; re-enlisted as veteran
December 25, 1863; wounded at Nashville December 16, 1864.

Bowers, William H., enlisted October 7, 1861 ; captured at Shiloh April
6, 1862; discharged May 6, 1862, disability.

Barton, A. H., enlisted October 7, 1861; discharged January 3, 1864.

Baker, Miles, enlisted October %, 1861; transferred to Invalid Corps
November 20, 1863.

Beadel, Henry, enlisted October 7, 1861; captured at Shiloh April 6,
1862; died at Macon, Georgia, August 10, 1862.

Comstock, Erwin, enlisted September 15, 1861 ; re-enlisted as veteran
December 25, 1863; captured at Shiloh April 6, 1862; captured at Jackson.
Mississippi, July 11, 1863.

(14)
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Chase, Thomas H., enlisted September 19, 1861; died March 28, 1862,
at St. Louis.

Clark, Henry, enlisted September 22, 1861; captured at Shiloh April
6, 1862 ; discharged December 8, 1862.

Conner, Felix, enlisted September 22, 1861; died April 7, 1862, at St.
Louis. '

Conner, Samuel, enlisted September 22, 18361; discharged April 1,
1862, disability.

Conner, Daniel, enlisted September 22, 1861; died January 14, 1862,
at St. Louis.

Card, Silas B., enlisted September 22, 1861 ; re-enlisted December 25,
1863.

Crossman, Silas, enlisted September 19, 186I; re-enlisted December
25, 1863.

Clawson, Elijah, enlisted September 19, 1861; died January 10, 1862,
at St. Louis. '

Curtis, H. C., enlisted September 15, 1861; captured at Shiloh April
6, 1862.

Carmichael, J. H., enlisted October 13, 1861; re-enlisted as veteran
December 25, 1863. '

Davis, A. J., enlisted September 15, 1861; discharged August 16, 1862,
disability.

Delezene, John A., enlisted October 11, 1861 ; re-enlisted as veteran
December 25, 1863; wounded December 15, 1864, at Nashville.

Forbes, David, enlisted September 20, 1861 ; discharged July 31, 1862,
disability. .

Forbes, William, enlisted September 2o, 1861; died January 2, 1862,
at St. Louis.

Grannis, George W., enlisted September 2T, 1861 ; captured at Shiloh
April 6, 1862.

George, Henry, enlisted October 7, 1861; wounded at Shiloh April 6,
1862 ; died May 2, 1862, at Mound City Hospital, Illinois.

Gifford, Simeon, enlisted October 7, 1861 ; captured April 6, 1862, at
Shiloh ; re-enlisted as veteran December 25, 1863.

Hood, A. F., enlisted September 22, 1861I; died January 31, 1862, at
St. Louis.

Hazlet, John, enlisted October 2, 1861 ; discharged May 19, 1862, disa-
bility.
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Hamlin, William, enlisted October 6, 1861; captured at Shiloh April
6, 1862.

House, Nathan, enlisted October 6, 1861; discharged April 6, 1862,
at Pittsburg, Tennessee.

Hill, John W., enlisted October 11, 1861; discharged July 23, 1860

Hendershot, Thomas, enlisted October 14, 1861; discharged, date un-
known.

Jordon, William H., enlisted September 19, 1861 captured at Shiloh
April 6, 1862.

Jordon, Isadore, enlisted September 19, 1861 ; captured at Shiloh April
6, 1862; wounded at Nashville December 15, 1864.

Jaques, Luther, enlisted October 2, 1861 ; discharged April 4, 1862.

Jones, Henry. enlisted October 6, 1861; died January 17, 1862, at St.
Louis.

Kelley, Artemus, enlisted October 6, 1861; wounded at Corinth Octo-
ber 4, 1862; re-enlisted as veteran December 25, 1863.

Ketchum, Amos R., enlisted September 22, 1861; captured at Shiloh
April 6, 1862; re-enlisted as veteran December 25, 1863.

Kent, William, enlisted September 22, 1861 ; captured at Shiloh April
6, 1862 ; discharged February 4, 1863, disability.

' Kent, John E., enlisted September 15, 1861; captured at Shiloh April

6, 1862.

King, William, enlisted October 6, 1861 ; wounded at Shiloh; re-enlisted
as veteran December 25, 1863.

Lewis, Leroy, enlisted September 15, 1861; died January 3, 1862, at
St. Louis.

Larson, Charles, enlisted September 22, 1861 ; killed at battle of Shiloh
April 6, 1862.

Lyons, William A., enlisted September 22, 1861 ; re-enlisted as veteran
December 25, 1863.

Little, James, enlisted September 22, 1861; discharged February g, 1863,
disability.

Lott, Lawrence, enlisted September 22, 1861 ; captured at Shiloh April
6, 1862 ; re-enlisted as veteran December 25, 1863.

Moine, F. W., enlisted September 15, 1861; wounded at Shiloh April
6, 1862 ; re-enlisted as veteran December 25, 1863.

Munger, A. P., enlisted September 15, 1801; wounded at Shiloh April
6, 1862 ; discharged October 16, 1862, wounded.
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Mattocks, J. L., enlisted September 22, 1861 ; re-enlisted as veteran
December 25, 1863. '

McCall, Daniel E., enlisted October 6, 1861; re-enlisted as veteran
December 25, 1863.

Pendleton, Charles, enlisted October 11, 1861 ; killed in battle of Shiloh
April 6, 1862.

Quivey, William W., enlisted September 24, 1861; discharged January
3, 1864.

Quivey, John, enlisted September 24, 1861; captured at Shiloh April
6. 1862: died at Macon, Georgia, October 3, 1862.

Reed, David W., enlisted September IS5, 1861 ; wounded at Shiloh April
6. 1862.

Russell, Granville, enlisted October 7, 1861 ; died February 17, 1862, at
St. Louis.

Rogers, R. F., enlisted October 6, 1861, discharged October 14, 1862.

Spears, N. H,, enlisted September 23, 1861; wounded at Corinth
October 4, 1862; re-enlisted as veteran December 25, 1863.

Smer, W. E., September 22, 1861 ; captured at Shiloh April 6, 1862;"
died October 10, 1862, at Macon, Georgia.

Smith, Jacob R., enlisted September 19, 1361; captured at Shiloh April
6, 1862 ; discharged October 14, 1862, disability.

Smith, Norton T., enlisted September 22, 1861 ; captured at Shiloh April
6, 1862 ; killed in battle of Vicksburg May 19, 1363.

Smith, Henry, enlisted October 14, 1861 ; died May 3, 1863, at Milliken’s
Bend.

Sigman, Charles, enlisted September 22, 1861; captured at Shiloh April
6, 1862 ; died October 27, 1862, at Annapolis, Maryland.

Stone, Samuel, enlisted October 6, 1861 ; captured at Shiloh April 6,
1862 ; died October 30, 1862, at Annapolis, Maryland.

Stone, Daniel, enlisted October 6, 1861 ; wounded at Corinth October 3,
1862. '

Sykes, Orvis, enlisted October 14, 1361.

Tatro, Augustus, enlisted September 22, 1861 ; discharged December 5,
1862, disability.

Utter, Albert, enlisted October 6, 1861, captured at Shiloh April 6, 1862;
re-enlisted as veteran December 25, 1863. ~

Verdin, Isaiah, enlisted September 19, 1861 ; re-enlisted as veteran De-

cember 25, 1863.
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Woods, P. R., enlisted September 15, 1861; captured at Shiloh April
6, 1862.

Williams, Rodolphus D., enlisted September 19, 1861; captured at Shi-
lIoh April 6, 1862; re-enlisted as veteran December 23, 1863.

Wallace, Charles, enlisted September 22, 1861; died July 9, 1863, on
hospital boat. :

Woarner, Walter B., enlisted September 22, 1861; wounded February
15, 1862, at Fort Donelson; died June 21, 1862.

Wait, Van Buren, enlisted October 9, 1861; captured at Shiloh April
6, 1862.

Comstock, Frank, enlisted February 22, 1864.

Latimer, Robert Z., enlisted February 29, 1864.

Latimer, George H., enlisted February 29, 1864.

McCall, John W., enlisted February 29, 1864; wounded July 14, 1304,
at Tupelo, Miss.

Mattocks, Ross, enlisted March 28, 1864.

Strong, John P., enlisted February 29, 1864.

Spouls, John, enlisted March 30, 1864.

COMPANY E.

Capt. Jeremiah F. Hutchins, enlisted as corporal Company C October 6,
1861 ; captured at Shiloh April 6, 1862 ; promoted to sergeant ; then captain of
this company June 28, 1865 ; mustered out as first sergeant Company C.

COMPANY F.

Sergt. R. C. Eldridge, enlisted September 19, 1861; captured at Shiloh
April 6, 1862 ; discharged January 12, 1863, disability.

Hasbrouck, D. H., enlisted September 19, 1861; wounded at Corinth
October 12, 1862 ; discharged March 12, 1863, wounded.

McGowan, Thomas, enlisted September 27, 1861; captured at Shiloh
April 6, 1862 ; re-enlisted as veteran December 25, 1863.

Mann, William, enlisted November 20, 1861 ; captured at Shiloh April 6,
1862 ; re-enlisted as veteran December 23, 1863.

Potter, James W., enlisted September 19, 1861; captured at Shiloh April
6, 1862.

Sparks, Thomas H., enhsted November 7, 1861 ; captured at Shiloh April
6, 1862 ; discharged January 14, 1863, disability.
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Weeden, Robert L., enlisted September 21, 1861; captured at Shilohr
April 6, 1862.
COMPANY G.

Second Lieut. Ole C. Thorson, enlisted as sergeant October 3, 1861 ; pro-
moted second lieutenant April 2, 1863 ; mustered out December 1, 1864.
Wheeler, Horace, enlisted September 30, 1861.

COMPANY K.

Hayes, James, enlisted November 24, 1861 ; discharged April 18, 1862.
Tomlinson, Thomas enlisted November 23, 1861} discharged March 6,
1862.

EIGHTEENTH INFANTRY.

The Eighteenth was mustered into the service August 5, 6 and 7, 1862,
with eight hundred seventy-five officers and men, and was almost immediately
ordered into Missouri, to join General Schofield’s command.

During the following winter, it was stationed at Springfield, and bore
a conspicuous part in the battle at that place, January 7 and 8, 1863. Com-
pany H was in this battle, in which the town was defended by a battalion of
Missouri militia and the Eighteenth fought against an army four thousand
strong. .

The regiment remained here for several weeks, doing camp and picket
duty, varied by a chase of the rebel General Shelby, into Arkansas, thence to
Fort Smith.

In the spring of 1864 the regiment was attached to General Steele’s com-
mand, and marched to Camden.

On April 13th, it was in an engagement near Moscow, thirty miles from
Camden.

On April 17th, it received seven successive and impetuous charges from
superior numbers, and returned to Camden with a loss of seventy-seven men.
The regiment was then returned to Fort Smith, and remained in that vicinity
until it was mustered out at Little Rock, Arkansas, July 20, 1365.

COMPANY H.

Capt. Gideon P. Stafford, commissioned first lieutenant August 6, 1862;
promoted captain January 9, 1863; died June 5, 1863.



FAYETTE COUNTY, IOWA. 215

Capt. William C. Rowland, enlisted as sergeant ]uiy 7, 1862 ; wounded at
Springfield, Missouri, January 8, 1863 ; promoted first lieutenant June 7, 1863;
promoted captain January 30, 186s.

Second Lieut. Cornelius Phillips, enlisted as corporal July 5, 1862; com-
missioned second lieutenant July 31, 1865 ; mustered out first sergeant.

Sergt. Russell Malcom, enlisted July 7, 1862; discharged December 29,
1862, disability.

Corp. Charles A. Lyon, enlisted July 5, 1862; wounded January 8, 1863,
at Springfield, Missouri.

Corp. S. F. Norcross, enlisted July 5, 1862.

Corp. William Washburn, enlisted July 5, 1862.

Corp: Lyman W. Currier, enlisted July 5, 1862.

Musician W. W. Smith, enlisted July 7, 1862.

Abbott, Squire, enlisted July 7, 1862 ; died November 16, 1862, at Spring-
field, Missouri. _

Cline, David W., enlisted July 21, 1862 ; died October 25, 1862, at Spring-
field, Missouri.

Davis, William, enlisted July 21, 1862; died at Springfield, Missouri,
November 28, 1862.

Eaton, H. R, enlisted July 21, 1862.

Eaton, Amos V., enlisted July 21, 1862.

Faltinson, Christian, enlisted July 21, 1862; died September 12, 1862, at
Jefferson City, Missouri.
Fitch, Martin, enlisted July 21, 1862; discharged February 3, 1863, dis-
ability. '
Gifford, Elias, enlisted July 21, 1862; discharged January 30, 1863, dis-
ability. '

Gaylord, James, enlisted July 18, 1862; discharged December 30, 1862,
disability.

Halvenstat, A. J., enlisted July 7, 1862; discharged September 4, 1862,
disability.

Jackson, Robert D., enlisted July 26, 1862; wounded and captured at
Poison Spring, Arkansas, April 18, 1864 ; died April 25, 1864 of wounds.

Johnson, J. G., enlisted July 18, 1862; died February &, 1863, at Spring-
field, Missouri.

Kennedy, H. R., enlisted July 7, 1862; died November 14, 1862, at
Ozark, Missouri.

Lynon, A. P., enlisted July 7, 1862; discharged January 29, 1863, dis-
ability.
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Morse, C. S,, enlisted July 16, 1862; discharged December 29, 1862, dis-
ability.

Miller, D. T., enlisted July 7, 1862 ; wounded January 8, 1863, at Spring-
field, Missouri. ‘

Noble, C. V., enlisted July 7, 1862.

Owens, Charles, enlisted July 7, 1862; wounded January 8, 1863, at
Springfield, Missouri.

Parmerter, E., enlisted July 10, 1862; Wounded and captured April 18,
1864, at Poison Spring, Arkansas.

Pierce, W. N., enlisted July 17, 1862; discharged January 28, 1863, dis-
ability.

Quivey, D. T., enlisted July 16, 1862; died November 9, 1862, at Fayette-
ville, Arkansas.

Stafford, L. D., enlisted July 7, 1862; discharged February 14, 1863, dis-
ability. '

Stafford, Harvey, enlisted July 7, 1862; died October 31, 1862, at Sedalia,
Missouri.

Tiffany, Otis, enlisted July 7, 1862.

Van Dorn, Henry, enlisted July 7, 1862; captured April 18, 1864, at
Poison Spring, Arkansas; died while prisoner of war November 7, 1864, at
Hempstead, Arkansas. '

White, Amos, enlisted April 7, 1862.

Williams, John, enlisted July 7, 1862 ; wounded April 18, 1864, at Poison
Spring, Arkansas, in action.

Wing, Clark S., enlisted July 7, 1862; discharged February 26 1864, at
Fort Smith, Arkansas, disability.

TWENTY-FIRST INFANTRY.

This regiment was recruited and organized in 1862. It went into service
under Colonel Samuel Merrill (since governor), Lieut.-Col. C. Dunlap, and
Maj. S. G. Van Anda, of Delaware. Its first engagement was at Hartsville,
Missouri, January 11, 1863. Soon after, the regiment was transferred to
General Grant’s command, and drew the first fire.of the enemy at Port Gib-
son, May 1, 1863, and had sixteen men wounded in the engagement.

The regiment was again engaged at Black River Bridge, May 17th, where
Colonel Merrill was wounded. It suffered severely in this charge, losing
eighty-three men in three minutes; but captured a large number of the enemy.

On the 22nd of May, the regiment made a brilliant charge on Fort Beaure-
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gard, in the rear of Vicksburg, and captured it, but was driven out in turn.
In this engagement Lieut.-Col. Dunlap was shot in the forehead and instantly
killed. After the capture of Vicksburg, the regiment was ordered to New
Orleans; thence to Texas, where it passed the winter. In the spring of 1864
it was ordered to White river; and during the remainder of the year was sta-
tioned, successively, at St. Charles, Duvall’s Bluffs, mouth of the White river,
Memphis, Wolf river, and New Orleans.

On March 3, 1865, the regiment left for Dauphin island, and passing up
Mobile bay, landed on the peninsula of Alabama, and was attached to the
Division of the Gulf, commanded by General Canby.

On March 26, about eight o’clock A. M., four companies were thrown
out as skirmishers, who kept up a continuous fire upon the retreating enemy,
often aided by the other companies of the regiment, for ten miles, when the
rebels made a bold stand ; and at nine o’clock P. M. the advance of the regi-
ment drew the fire of the enemy from their earthworks, having driven them
since eight o’clock that morning.

The rebels being driven into their works, preparations for a siege com-
menced. The regiment took active part in the siege until the 30th, when it
was withdrawn to escort a supply train to General Steele. April 2d, it was
ordered to Fort Blakely. During the operations against this stronghold, the
men entered the rifle pits at dark on the evening of the 7th, and were under
the most terrible fire of shells for two hours. After fighting in this position
for thirty-six hours, without rest or food, they were ordered to the support
of General Smith in a contemplated assault upon Spanish Fort, seven miles
away. The fort, the strongest on the bay, surrendered, however, before the
regiment could reach it.

Soon after the fall of Mobile, the Twenty-first Regiment was sent up the
Red river for the purpose of paroling rebel prisoners. Having performed
this duty, it was ordered to Baton Rouge, where it was mustered out July 13,
1865.

COMPANY B.

First Lieut. Henry H. Howard, commissioned second lieutenant August
18, 1862; promoted to first lieutenant February 24, 1863 ; mortally wounded
(while second lieutenant) at Black River Bridge, Mississippi, May 17, and
died May 18, 1863.

Corporal B. N. Talcott, enlisted August 11, 1862.

Musician Abel Griffin, enlisted August 5, 1862; died August 26, 1803, at
New Orleans.
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Aldrich, Frank, enlisted August 9, 1862.

Hicks, James W., enlisted July 25, 1862.

McNary, T. C., enlisted August 13, 1862; died September 16, 1862, at
Houston, Missouri.

McNary, C. R, enlisted August 1, 1862; discharged March 7, 1863, dis-.
ability.

Parker, Thomas L., enlisted August 11, 1862; died August 26, 1863,
Strawberry Point.

Parker, Edwin E., enlisted August 1, 1862.

Potter, Henry, enlisted August 7, 1862.

Warner, William S., enlisted August 12, 1862.

Wood, William O., enlisted August 11, 1862.

COMPANY D.

Brownwell, George W., enlisted August 14, 1862.

Hanchett, Henry, enlisted August 14, 1862.

Bowley, Jehiel, enlisted August 15, 1862; discharged September 8, 1863,
disability.

Aldrich, N., enlisted January 18, 1864.

THIRTY-SEVENTH INFANTRY—COMPANY D.

Underwood, R. W., enlisted November 28, 1862; transferred to Com-
pany H. ‘

COMPANY I.

Lewis, J. B., enlisted September 17, 1862 ; discharged December 11, 1863,
disability.

COMPANY K.

First Lieut. Thomas G. Daniels, commissioned December 15, 1862; died
at Alton, Illinois, October 4, 1863.

Bishop, Rufus A., enlisted September 4, 1862 ; discharged May 35, 1863.

Crossman, William B., enlisted September 20, 1862 ; discharged April 171,
1863, disabilitv.
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Finch, James, enlisted September 16, 1862 ; discharged January 27, 1863,
disability. C

Hobbs, James W., enlisted September 21, 1862 ; discharged October 1,
1864.

Hatfield, J. G., enlisted September 13, 1862 ; discharged March 2, 1863,
disability.

Hendershott, J., enlisted October 15, 1862; discharged December 5, 1864,
disability.

Harold, William H., enlisted September 15, 1862.

Johnson, Samuel, enlisted September 3, 1862.

Lewis, Joseph B., enlisted September 17, 1862.

McGuire, P., enlisted September 15, 1862; discharged March 17, 1863,
disability.

Mason, I. A., enlisted October 20, 1362; discharged April 11, 1863, dis-
ability.

Poorman, Jacob, enlisted September 20, 1862 ; died January 29, 1864, at
Alton, Illinois.

Smith, E. D., enlisted October 21, 1862; discharged January 26, 1863,
disability.

Staples, A. B., enlisted October 13, 1862 ; discharged April 12, 1863, dis-
ability.

Sherman, A., enlisted September 4, 1862; discharged December 20,
1863, disability.
Wilson, James, enlisted September 3, 1862; discharged May 9, 1863, dis-
ability. ‘

Wilcox, M., enlisted September 23, 1862; died September 27, 1863,
Alton, Illinois.

Washburn, James, enlisted September 1, 1862.

THIRTY-EIGHTH INFANTRY.

The four companies from Fayette county were recruited mostly in Aug-
ust, 1862, and Company F all recruited from the 11th to the 25th of August.
The Thirty-eighth left New Madrid, Missouri, June 7, 1863, strong, healthy
men. They had spent the winter there, with light camp duty, and almost no
toughening work, and had lived on good and varied food, and, though in good
flesh and health, were soft in fiber. They went into the siege of Vicksburg
in the heat of summer, on the extreme left of the investing line, with a high
cliff on the east, and a timbered bayou on the west (a few rods distant) ; the
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picket line on ground muddy and malarious, where stagnant water had that
spring, and recently, been twelve feet deep; drinking warm, milky-looking
water, eating strictly army rations, doing heavy picket and fatigue work, day
and night, and constructing batteries, rifle pits, etc. ; those off duty often called
into line several times in one night to repel an apprehended sortie from the
rebel fort; the heat from the bluff in the afternoons reflecting oppressively
upon the camp ; the bluff and nearby timber uniting near the tents in a point,
rendering it almost impossible for the camp to be fanned by a breeze, while
the stinging bite of the “jigger” drove sleep from the weary and failing sol-
diers; all this was more than human muscle or human nerve and pluck could
bear. When the surrender came, on the 4th of July, relaxing the tension that
had held many a feeble man to his duty, the ravages of disease swept through
and prostrated the regiment. The death rate that followed proved the sever-
ity of the test the boys had endured.

The wasted regiment moved from Port Hudson the middle of August,
and went into convalescent camp at Carrollton, Louisiana, on the 16th and on
October 23rd they embarked for Brazos Santiago, as a portion of the “Banks’
Texas” expedition; arrived at Brownsville November gth, and remained on
garrison duty until July 25, 1864; and on July 31st re-embarked for New
Orleans, thence to Fort Morgan, and went into camp on Mobile Point, Aug-
ust gth. December 12, 1864, Major-General Canby issued an order for the
consolidation of the Thirty-eighth and Thirty-fourth Iowa Volunteers into the
Thirty-fourth, and the Thirty-eighth ceased to exist.

This history of the Thirty-eighth is extremely sad, in that conditions were
such that their services were required in the most unhealthful localities yet
without the opportunity of exercising the spirit of retaliation by taking “an
eye for an eye, and a tooth for a tooth.” Before it had been in service two
years, more than three hundred enlisted men, and a number of officers, had
died of disease; more than a hundred more had been discharged on account
of ill health. Many weeks it did not have well men enough to take care of
the sick and bury the dead. If it did not have the opportunity to win glory
on the battlefield, it did all that men could do—gave itself entirelj' up for its
country, and may well be called “Towa’s Martyr Regiment.” '

This regiment was consolidated with the Thirty-fourth Infantry Decem-
ber 31, 1864, which retained the designation of the Thirty-fourth. Those
not transferred were mustered out at the time of consolidation.

Maj. Charles Chadwick, commissioned November 4, 1862; resigned
January 4, 1864.
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Surgeon H. W. Hart, commissioned assistant surgeon Ninth Infantry
September 10, 1861 ; promoted surgeon this regiment September 10, 1862.

Assistant Surg. S. E. Robinson, commissioned November 11, 1864, from
civil life, declined.

Quartermaster Mason R. Lyon, commissioned September 135, 1862;
resigned April 14, 1863.

Chaplain John Webb, commissioned September 13, 1862; resigned July
23, 1863.-

‘Hos. Steward A. P. White, appointed August 10, 1862; discharged
May 22, 1864, disability.

Drum Maj. H. T. Hulbert, appointed August 15, 1862.

Fife Major A. Richards, appointed August 11, 1862.

COMPANY A.

Capt. J. J. Welsh, commissioned November 4, 1862; resigned July 17,
1863. :
Capt. Jameson J. Berkey, commissioned first lieutenant November 4,
1862 ; promoted captain July 18, 1863.

First Lieut. Ezra Crosby, enlisted as first sergeant August 13. 1862; pro-
moted first lieutenant July 18, 1863 ; transfererd to Company F, Thirty-fourth
and Thirty-eighth consolidated.

Second Lieut. John Herriman, commissioned November 4, 1862; re-
signed August 6, 1863.

Sergt. David P. Royce, enlisted August 15, 1862.

Sergt. S. D. Staples, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Compan}
F, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Sergt. H. L. Templeton, enlisted August 15, 1862; died October 16,
1863. in Fayette county.

Sergt. George W. Cook, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Com-
pany F, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Corp. Brown Stewart, enlisted August 15, 1862 ; transferred to Company
F, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Corp. B. W. Ellsberry, enlisted August 12, 1862; transferred to Com-
pany F, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

‘Corp. N. J. Lewis, enlisted August 14, 1862; died September 11, 1863,
at Carrollton, Iowa.

Corp. John H. Pitts, enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company
F, Thirty-fourth Infantry.
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Corp. J. F. Nefzger, enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company
F, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Corp. William L. Nims, enlisted August 15, 1862; died September 3,
1863, at Memphis, Tennessee.

Corp. James Burrell, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company
F, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Corp. John Owens, enlisted August 15, 1862; died December 20, 1863,
at Point Isabel, Texas.

Musician A. M. Courrier, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Com-
pany F, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Wagoner F. Wright, enlisted August 15; discharged September 11,
1863, disability.

Bailey, William T., enlisted August 1862; transferred to Company F,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Barnum, J. C., enlisted August 9, 1862; transferred to Company F,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Barkholder, B. F., enlisted August 9, 1862; died December 12, 1863, at
New Orleans.

Butler, William H. H., enlisted August 14, 1862; discharged September
11, 1863, disability.

Burk, John, enlisted August 15, 1862 transferred to Company F, Thirty-
fourth Infantry.

Butler, Jesse, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company F, Thirty-
fourth Infantry.

Benedict, William H., enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to invalid
corps, April 10, 1864.

Butler, Henry, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company F,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Barber, Lawrence E., enlisted August 15, 1862; discharged July 15,
1863, disability.

Bartie, Thomas, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company F,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Cullins, Amos, enlisted August 9, 1862; transferred to Company K.

Cook, John R., enlisted August 15, 1862; died September 14, 1863, at
Keokuk. '

Crosby, G. P., enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company F,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Corbin, Daniel, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company F,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.
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Cline, Jacob, enlisted August 15, 1862 ; transferred to Company F, Thirty-
fourth Infantry.

Cook, John, enlisted August 15, 1862 ; transferred to Company F, Thirty-
fourth Infantry.

Clow, W. B., enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company F,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Clow, William, enlisted August 15, 1862; died August 15, 1863, at New
Orleans.

Campbell, A. C,, enlisted August 15, 1862 ; died August 7, 1863, at Vicks-
burg.

Crow, Abraham, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company F,
Thirty-fourth Infantry. '

Delezene, L., enlisted August 14, 1862; discharged March 20, 1863, dis-
ability.

Detrick, C. A., enlisted August 14, 1862; discharged April 21, 1863, dis-
ability. :

Davis, Josiah, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company F,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Davis, James R., enlisted March 28, 1863 ; died August 18, 1863, at New
Orleans.

Davis, Benjamin, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company F,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Forbes, D. C., enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Compgny F,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Fitch, E. E., enlisted August 15, 1862 ; transferred to Company F, Thirty-
fourth Infantry musician.

Gifford, John, enlisted August 14, 1862; discharged December 6, 1862,
disability.

Holcomb, R. M., enlisted August 13, 1862; transferred to Company I,
Thirty-fourth Infantry. ~

Horrigan, William, enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company
F, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Howe, William H., enlisted August 14, 1863; transferred to Company
F, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Hitch, John, enlisted August 15, 1862 ; transferred to Company F, Thirty-
fourth Infantry.

Hitch, Lorenzo, enlisted August 15, 1862; discharged March 30, 1863,
disability. :
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" Hart, Dennis, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company F,

Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Hageman, J. N., enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company F,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Hendrickson, S. U., enlisted August 15, 1862; discharged August 18,
1864, disability.

Hawkins, J. A., enlisted August 15, 1862; died September 6, 1863,
at New Orleans.

House, Peter, enlisted August 13, 1862; transferred to Company F,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Jennings, J. A., enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company F,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Jennings, J. M., enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company F,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Johnson, W. S, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company F,
Thirty-fourth Infantry. .

Jarret, J. E., enlisted August 15, 1862; died August 12, 1863, at Vicks-
burg. '

Kinsey, W., enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company F,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Klammer, William, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company F,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Lincicum, J., enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company F,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Livermore, Wilson, enlisted August 15, 1862.

Moore, H. F., enlisted August 14, 1862; discharged August 5, 1863, dis-
ability.

McKay, T. P., enlisted August 12, 1862; died July 26, 1863, Vicksburg.

Maroney, J., enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company F,
Thirty-fourth Infantry. '

Moorehouse, J. B., enlisted August 15, 1862; died August 16, 1863, at
Carrollton, Iowa.

Nichols, Alex., enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company F,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Nike, William, enlisted August 12, 1862; died September 3, 1863, Mem-
phis.

Olinger, J., enlisted August 15, 1862 ; died September 19, 1863, Memphis.

‘Pitts, M. W, enlisted August 14, 1862; discharged September 11, 1863,
disability.

Perkins, C. H., enlisted August 15, 1861.
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Rice, W. W., enlisted October 25, 1862; died August 16, 1863, at Port
Hudson, Louisiana.

Shanklin, C. M., enlisted August 9, 1862; died July 27, 1863, at Vicks-
burg.

Sheirry, H. E., enlisted August 14, 1862 ; died August 13, 1863, at Vicks-
burg.

Seamons, W. H., enlisted August 15, 1862, died August 22, 1863, at
Jefferson Barracks.

Shanklin, M., enlisted August 15, 1862; discharged July 13, 1863, dis-
ability.

Slaughter, W., enlisted August 15, 1862 discharged March 30, 1863,
disability.

Starr, B., enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company F, Thirty-
fourth Infantry.

Smith, John, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred August 16, 1863, to
infantry Corps.

Tuttle, Lloyd, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company F,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Vawser, John, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company F
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Walls, T. A., enlisted August 12, 1862, transferred to Company F,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Wayman, T. C., enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company F,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Walters, M., enlisted August 15, 1862.

Walck, A. J., enlisted August 15, 1862; discharged February 4, 1863,
disability.

Woods, N., enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company F,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

COMPANY F.

Capt. Jacob W. Rogers, commissioned November 4, 1862.

First Lieut. Henry M. Shoemaker, commissioned November 4, 1862;
transferred to Company K, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Second Lieut. David Campbell, commissioned November 4, 1862; re-
signed August 8, 1863.

Second Lieut. Jacob H. Walrath, enlisted sergeant August 13, 1862:

(15)
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commissioned second lieutenant August 9, 1863 ; discharged as first sergeant
to accept promotion in United States colored troops.

First Sergt. S. M. Phillips, enlisted August 11, 1862; died August 18,
1863, at St. Louis, Missouri.

Sergt. John J. Broadbent, enlisted August 15, 1862.

Sergt. Charles A. Wilcox, August 14, 1862; discharged May 1, 1863,
disability. :

Sergt. J. B. Chappell, enlisted August 13, 1862 ; died August 14, 1863, at
Port Hudson, Louisiana.

Corp. Jacob Rush, Jr., enlisted August 20, 1862 ; transferred to Company
K, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Corp. E. S. Linderman, enlisted August 20, 1862; died August 2, 1863,
at Vicksburg.

Corp. G. G. Spears, enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company
K, Thirty-fourth Infantry. :

Corp. D. Sutherland, enlisted August 13, 1862; died July 28, 1863, at
Vicksburg. '

Corp. William F. Perkins, enlisted August 12, 1862 ; died November 18,
1863, at Miemphis. .

Corp. Benjamin Cooper, enlisted August 19, 1862; transferred to Com-
pany K, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Corp. Leander Welsh, enlisted August 19, 1862 ; transferred to Company
K, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Corp. Jesse J. Roberts, enlisted August 19, 1862; transferred to Com-
pany K, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Musician Hubbell Pepper, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Com-
pany K, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Musician Samuel Clark, enlisted August 17, 1862; died November 12,
1862, at Dubuque.

Wagoner D. B. Welsh, enlisted August 12, 1862 ; transferred to Company
K, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Abbott, William S., enlisted August 12, 1862; discharged February 25,
1863, disability.

Booth, A. J., enlisted August 15, 1862; died September 11, 1863, at St.
Louis.

Burget, George, enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Barber, A. W., enlisted August 13, 1862; died August 2, 1863, at Vicks-

burg.
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Cordray, Lewis M., enlisted August 12, 1862; died August 29, 1863, at
Carrollton, Iowa. '

Cook, John, Jr., enlisted August 11, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thrty-fourth Infantry.

Cavin, William E., enlisted November 28, 1863 ; transferred to Company
K, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Collins, C. H., enlisted August 13, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Chappell, Alfred, enlisted August 14, 1862 ; died July 9, 1863, on steamer
“City of Memphis.”

Campbell, T. C., enlisted August 11, 1862; died January 26, 1864, at
Cairo.

Clements, H., enlisted August 12, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry. v

Dayhuff, Peter, enlisted August 12, 1862; discharged June 35, 1863, dis-
ability.

Doolittle, E. D., enlisted August 14, 1862; died November 16, 1863, at
St. Louis.

Deppe, C., enlisted August 14, 1862; died November 21, 1862, at Windsor.

Foster, Orin, enlisted August 15, 1862; died September 11, 1863, at New
Orleans.

Fuson, Joseph B., enlisted August 11, 1862; died September 4, 1863, at
Keokuk.

Hennings, Thomas, enlisted August 12, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry. )

House, Jeremiah, enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

House, Alex, enlisted August 13, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry. ,

Higby, Milo L., enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Ives, Asahel, enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Jones, J. N., enlisted August 12, 1862; discharged July 1, 1864, dis-
ability.

Kidder, R. H., enlisted August 12, 1862; died July 21, 1863, on steamer
“Anglo-Saxon.”

Kirkpatrick, J. N., enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company
K, Thirty-fourth Infantry.
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Keasey, C. A., enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Kelsey, R. D., enlisted August 17, 1862; discharged October 23, 1863,
disability.

Leonhart, Martin, enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Luce, E. W, enlisted August 14, 1862 ; died January 27, 1864, in Brown-
ville, Texas.

Linn, John R., enlisted August 14, 1862 ; died August 3, 1863, on steamer
“City of Memphis.”

Lee, L. M., enlisted August 12, 1862 ; discharged October 20, 1863, dis--
ability. _

Mathews, John, enlisted August 25, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Mansfield, F. N., enlisted August 12, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Miller, Joseph K., enlisted August 14, 1862 ; discharged January 31, 1864,
disability.

McNutt, George E., enlisted February 26, 1864 ; transferred to Company
K, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Miller, Jacob, enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

McQuilkin, R. W., enlisted February 26, 1864 ; transferred to Company
K, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Murray, George M., enlisted August 19, 1862; transferred to Company
K, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Nichols, Joseph, enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry. ,

Parker, Samuel, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Parkhurst, W., enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Parker, Miles, enlisted August 14, 1862, discharged June 18, 1864, dis-
ability.

Peterman, Jacob, enlisted August 19, 1862; died January 21, 1863, at
‘Dubuque.

Reber, H. G., enlisted August 4, 1862 ; discharged April 16, 1863, dis-
ability.

Rogers, Joseph C., enlisted August 13, 1862; discharged September 11,
1863, disability. '
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Richards, John A., enlisted August 14, 1862; died August 3, 1863, at
Vicksburg.

Rawson, James D., enlisted August 11, 1862; transferred to Company
K, Thirty-fourth Infantry. i

Rawson, George L., enlisted August 11, 1862; transferred to Company
K, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Robbins, M. C. F., enlisted August 14, 1862 ; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Riser, Gustave, enlisted August 23, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Robinson, J. F., enlisted August 23, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Robinson, A. J., enlisted August 23, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Ronco, John, enlisted February 26, 1864; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Ronco, Joseph J., enlisted February 26, 1864; transferred to Company
K, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Saltsgiver, H. C., enlisted August 12, 1862; died September 12, 1863,
in New Orleans.

Sharp, I. W, enlisted August 11, 1862; died November 5, 1862, at
Dubuque.

Stahl, Harmon, enlisted August 11, 1862; died September 2, 1863, at
Vicksburg.

Severson, B., enlisted August 11, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Soward, S. C., enlisted August 13, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Staats, A. Y., enlisted August 15, 1862; discharged September 11, 1863,
disability.

Smith, J. C., enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Sutherland, S., enlisted August 15, 1862; died August 19, 1863, at New
Orleans. '

Simpson, Daniel, enlisted August 19, 1862; transierred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

: Smith, Eugene, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.
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Soward, George S., enlisted August 12, 1862; transferred to Company
K, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Sliter, G. D., enlisted August 13, 1862; died August 10, 1863, in Vicks-
burg. :
Spaulding, James, enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company
K, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Tracy, A., enlisted August 15, 1862; died July 14, 1863, at Vicksburg.

Thorp, E. M., enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Umbarger, J. P., enlisted August 11, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Umbarger, David P., enlisted August 15, 1862; died August 24, 1363,
at Carrollton, Towa. , :

Vargason, A., enlisted August 23, 1862; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Williams, M. L., enlisted August 11, 1862 ; transferred to Company K,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Wilson, Marshal, enlisted August 13, 1862; died August 17, 1863, at
St. Louis.

Wells, Joseph T., enlisted August 12, 1862; died August 11, 1863, at
Carrollton, Iowa.

COMPANY G.

Capt. Charles H. Miller, enlisted as private Company F, Ninth Infantry;
commissioned captain this company November 4, 1862; transferred to Com-
pany G, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

First Lieut. Edward Elwell, enlisted as first sergeant August 11, 1862;
promoted first lieutenant November 11, 1862; resigned June 2, 1863.

Second Lieut. Leander M. Bunton, commissioned second lieutenant No-
vember 4, 1862 ; promoted first lieutenant June 3, 1863; transferred to Com-
pany G, Thirty-fourth Infantry. '

i Sergt. L. B. Fish, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Sergt. R. C. Rowell, enlisted August 13, 1862; discharged June 16, 1863.

Sergt. L. Potter, enlisted August 15, 1862 ; died March 3, 1864, at New
Orleans.

Sergt. Edward Easton, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Com-
pany G, Thirty-fourth Infantry.
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Corp. R. Holden, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Corp. Joseph L. Williams, enlisted August 14, 1862; died August 13,
1863, at Port Hudson.

Corp. R. T. Watrous, enlisted August 13, 1862 ; transferred to Company
G, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Corp. John Weaver, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company
G, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Corp. C. H. Wilson, enlisted August 15, 1862 ; died August 11, 1863, at
Port Hudson, Louisiana.

Corp. Robert McMullen, enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Com-
pany G, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Corp. William Deal, enlisted August 11, 1862; transferred to Company
G, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Corp. Clarence Webber, enlisted August 11, 1862; transferred to Com-
pany G, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Musician R. C. Potter, enlisted August 12, 1862; died September 4,
1863, at Carrollton, Iowa.

Musician A. Richards, enlisted August 13, 1862.

Wagoner D. W. Nichols, enlisted August 14, 1862 ; transferred to Com-
pany G, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Andress, N., enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Anderson, H., enlisted August 11, 1862; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Allyn, Augustus, enlisted August 13, 1862; discharged June 16, 1864,
disability.

Boswell, James F., enlisted August 14, 1862; discharged September 14,
1863, disability.

Boswell, Willis, enlisted February 26, 1864 ; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Bacon, C. C., enlisted August 12, 1862; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Brown, William O., enlisted August 14, 1862; died August 35, 1863, at
Vicksburg.

Barton, John C., enlisted August 11, 1862; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Chandler, E. E., enlisted August 12, 1862; died August 30, 1363, at
Jefferson Barracks.
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Cummings, T. J., enlisted August 11, 1862; died August 13, 1863, at
Vicksburg.

Converse, W. E., enlisted August 14, 1862; died August 20, 1863, at
Carrollton, Iowa.

Doland, John, enlisted August 11, 1862; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Davis, M. L., enlisted August 12, 1862; died October 1, 1863, at New
Orleans.

Davis, August W., enlisted August 12, 1862; discharged February 28,
1864, disability.

Doty, Andrew, enlisted August 11, 1862; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Dayton, R., enlisted August 15, 1862; discharged April 1, 1863, dis-
ability.

Dayton, Jonathan, enlisted August 20, 1862; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Finch, B. W,, enlisted August 11, 1862; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Finch, Aurelius, enlisted August 11, 1862; died August 10, 1863, at St.
Louis.

Gersbacher, A., enlisted August 20, 1862; died August 6, 1863, at St.
Louis.

Heald, Seth, enlisted August 10, 1862; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Heald, Artemus, enlisted August 11, 1862; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Hendershott, Thomas, enlisted August 11, 1862; transferred to Com-
pany G, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Hensley, D. P., enlisted August 12, 1862; discharged September 14,
1863, disability.

Hensley, R. N., enlisted August 11, 1862; died July 8, 1863, at Vicks-
burg.

Hughes, R. C,, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Houpt, Conrad, enlisted August 11, 1862 ; died October 2, 1863, at New
Orleans.

Houpt, Elias, enlisted August 11, 1862; died July 15, 1863, at Vicks-
burg.

How, H. F., enlisted August 14, died September 14, 1863, at Vicksburg.
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How, Charles, enlisted August 11, 1862; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Jaques, Francis, enlisted August 14, 1862; died August 11, 1863, at
Vicksburg.

Johnson, G. W., enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Kreamer, A. G, enlisted November 28, 1863 ; transferred to Company
G, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Learn, Jacob, enlisted August 14, 1862; died August 31, 1863, at Car-
rollton, Towa. i

Long, David, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Moulton, H. A, enlisted August 11, 1862; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Mathis, A. J., enlisted August 11, 1862.

Mullinex, N., enlisted August 11, 1862; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry. .

Meikle, John, enlisted August 13, 1862; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Nicholas, D. F., enlisted August 11, 1862; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Norcross, J. A., enlisted August 13, 1862; discharged September 27,
1863, disability.

Niles, R. S., enlisted August 12, 1862; discharged October 8, 1864, dis-
ability.

Northrop, George E., enlisted August 11, 1862; died August 16, 1863,
at Jefferson Barracks.

Nutting, Oscar, enlisted August 15, 1882; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Osgood, L. K., enlisted November 27, 1863; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Osgood, Warren, enlisted August 13, 1862; died January 22, 1864, at
New Orleans.

Poorman, Israel B., enlisted August 11, 1862; died September 1, 1863,
at Carrollton.

Proctor, Nathan R., enlisted August 15, 1862; died September 2, 1863,
at Carrollton. ‘

Perry, William T., enlisted August 15, 1862; died August 15, 1863, at
New Orleans.
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Pratt, Melvin, enlisted August 20, 1862; died August 17, 1863, at Vicks-
burg.

Reynolds, William M., enlisted August 14, 1862 ; died September 3, 1863,
at Carrollton. .

Reeves, Levi, enlisted August 15, 1862.

Shaffer, David, enlisted August 13, 1863; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Shaffer, Joseph, enlisted August 14, 1862 ; discharged May 5, 1863.
Shook, Jacob, enlisted August 1862; discharged February 7, 1863, dis-
ability. :

Smith, Willard, enlisted August 13, 1862; discharged June 15, 1864.

Smith, Chauncey, enlisted April 26, 1864; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Spurr, Charles C., enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Stone, William P., enlisted August 13, 1862; died August 11, 1863, at
Port Hudson.

Seeley, Samuel S., enlisted August 15, 1864.

Scott, William H., enlisted August 14, 1862; discharged August 12,
1863, disability. '

Thurston, Jesse, enlisted August 15, 1862; died September 1, 1863, at
Carrollton. '

Thompson, Francis E., enlisted August 7, 1862; discharged February
24, 1864.

Van Buskirk, S., enlisted August 13, 1862; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Thorp, E. W., enlisted November 23, 1863 ; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Witherell, Loren, enlisted February 29, 1864; died at Brownsville,
Texas, July 12, 1864. '

‘Wilbur, Perry F., enlisted August 13, 1862.

Wing, Elihu, enlisted August 13, 1862; died August 16, 1863, at Vicks-
burg. '

Watrous, Moses, enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company G,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Wood, Francis, enlisted August 14, 1862; deserted at Dubuque, October
23, 1862.

White, A. P., enlistéd August 20, 1862.
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. Easton, George W., enlisted November 17, 1862; transferred to Com-
pany G, Thirty-fourth Infantry.
Van Buskirk, John, enlisted November 17, 1862 ; discharged August 11,
1863.
Jaques, Earl, enlisted November 17, 1862; died August 22, 1863, at
Carrollton, Iowa.
COMPANY H.

Capt. Eliphalet Follet, commissioned November 4, 1862.

First Lieut. Elisha Hosmer, commissioned November 4, 1862; resigned
March 24, 1864.

First Lieut. Thomas J. Butcher, enlisted as corporal August 13, 1862;
promoted to sergeant then to first lieutenant March 23, 1864.

Second Lieut. Lewis Armstrong, commissioned November 4, 1862; re-
signed July 20, 1863.

First Sergt. James N. Dennis, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to
Company I, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Sergt. W. H. H. Myers, enlisted August 12, 1862; transferred to Com-
pany H, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Sergt. C. M. Curtis, enlisted August 4, 1862, transferred to Company
H, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Sergt. William Whiting, enlisted August 5, 1862; died October 30, 1863,
at Elgin.

Corp. R. H. Albright, enlisted August g, 1862; died October 20, 1863, at
Carrollton.

Corp. James H. Linderman, enlisted Auoust 15, 1862; died August 10,
1863, at Port Hudson, Louisiana.

Corp. G. J. Webb, enlisted August 11, 1862; discharged September 14,
1863, disability.

Corp. A. Thompson, enlisted August 13, 1862; discharged September 21,
1863, disability.

Corp. George W. Irwin, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Com-
pany H, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Corp. George La Page, enlisted August 13, 1862 ; transferred ‘to Com-
pany H, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Corp. B. F. Dibble, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company
H, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Musician M. E. R. West, enlisted August 18, 1862; died September 12,
1863, in United States hospital.



236 FAYETTE COUNTY, IOWA.

Musician Joseph H. West, enlisted August 13, 1862; died August 29,
1863, at New Orleans.

Wagoner, C. Dorland, enlisted August 17, 1862; died August 21, 1863,
at Jefferson Barracks.

Baldwin, Chris., enlisted August 12, 1862 ; discharged October 17, 1863,
disability.

Bell, Robert T., enlisted August 14, 1862; discharged September 14,
1863, disability.

Bamer, Charles, enlisted August 14, 1862; died October 18, 1863, at
Elgin.

Crane, Eleazer, enlisted August 4, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Crane, Edgar, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Conner, Isaac, enlisted August 1, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Cooley, James C., enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company
H, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Cain, W. J., enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company H.
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Christianson, M., enlisted August 15, 1862; died September 4, 1863, at
Keokuk.

Conner, William T., enlisted August 11, 1862; transferred to Company
H, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Doud, William M., enlisted August 13, 1862; transferred to Company
H, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Downie, E. B., enlisted August 5, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Desart, Leander, enlisted December 1, 1863; transferred to Company
H, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Desart, Dennis, enlisted August 13, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Edgar, George W., enlisted August 15, 1862; died August 9, 1863, at
Port Hudson. :

Foster, Edwin, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry. '

Follett, Thomas M., enlisted August 10, 1862; transferred to Company
H, Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Gage, William R., enlisted August 14, 1862.
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Gillett, Shuble, enlisted August 1, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Garner, William H., enlisted August 13, 1862.

Grossman, F., enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Goodsill, F. W., enlisted August 15, 1862; died October 18, 1863, at
St. Louis.

Gunnelson, Swan, enlisted August 15, 1862; died December s, 1863, at
Memphis. ‘

Herrington, H. L., enlisted August 135, 1862; died October 28, 1863, at
Carrollton, Louisiana.

Howard, Hugh, enlisted August 4, 1862; died September
Memphis.

Harvey, Dennis R., enlisted August 11, 1862; died August 30, 1863, at
Keokuk.

Johnson, James, enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Kinsel, James, enlisted August 13, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

King, Benjamin, enlisted August 14, 1862; discharged September 21,
1863, disability. '

King, Nathaniel, enlisted August 14, 1862; discharged September 21,
1863, disability.

Ketchum, Witham, enlisted August 9, 1862; died August 6, 1863, on
Steamer “R. C. Wood.”

Knight, J. W., enlisted August 2, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Kincade, Fred, enlisted October 11, 1864; transferred to Company H,

Thirty-fourth Infantry.

' Kinyon, William, enlisted August, 1862 ; died October 12, 1863, at Cairo.

Lyon, Willis, enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company A,
Thirty-fourth Infantry. _

Lee, Martin, enlisted August 12, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry. '

Moore, John W., enlisted August 2, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry. _

Miller, P. J., enlisted August 3, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

[

3, 1863, at
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Myers, Eleazer, enlisted August 12, 1862; died August 7, 1863, on
steamer “City of Memphis.” '

Myers, Richard, enlisted October 11, 1864 ; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Mattocks, Eli, enlisted August 4, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Martindale, Al, enlisted August 5, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Mattocks, William, enlisted August 3, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Mattocks, W., enlisted August 13, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Mitchell, R. N., enlisted August 15, 1862 ; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Maze, Thomas, enlisted August 13, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Moats, Ambrose, enlisted August 15, 1862

Marsh, J. A., enlisted August 14, 1862.

Mathiason, J. M., enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Minzer, Fred, enlisted August 12, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Nichols, Wesley, enlisted August 14, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Nittel, Jacob, enlisted August 14, 1862; discharged September 28, 1362,
disability.

Owen, A. F., enlisted August 15, 1862; died August 28, 1863, at Carroll-
ton, Iowa.

Packer, Gust., enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Relay, John, enlisted October 11, 1864; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Schlupp, Jacob, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Stirk, Joseph W., enlisted August 13, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Smith, Sidney, enlisted August 15, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Saltsgiver, Adam, enlisted August 15, 1862; died August 20, 1863, on
steamer “R. C. Wood.”
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Sparks, John C., enlisted August 12, 1862; died October 25, 1863, at
Memphis.

Smith, John, enlisted August 14, 1862; died October 28, 1863, at New
Orleans. . '

Schmitt, William M., enlisted August 15, 1862.

Taylor, Ed. J., enlisted August 9, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Travers, N., enlisted August 13, 1862; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Whiting, Benjamin, enlisted August 11, 1862; died August 9, 1863, at
Port Hudson, Iowa. A

Wattenpaugh, A., enlisted August 1, 1862; died August 21, 1863, at
Jefferson Barracks.

Warren, Abel, enlisted August 9, 1862; died November 27, 1863, at
Brownsville, Texas. '

Zimmerman, G., enlisted August 14, 1862 ; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Lee, Andrews, enlisted January 4, 1864; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

Ropes, Charles F., enlisted January 4, 1864 ; transferred to Company H,
Thirty-fourth Infantry.

' COMPANY K.

Cullins, Amos, enlisted August 9, 1862; died August 20, 1863, on
steamer “City of Memphis.”

Kerr, James N., enlisted August 1 5, 1862.

Moe, A. B., enlisted August 19, 1862; discharged June 16, 1864, dis-
ability. '

Moe, Perry, enlisted August 19, 1862; died December 26, 1863, at
Brownsville, Texas.

Rice, Wilder, enlisted August 11, 1862; discharged March 14, 1863,
disability.

Voorhees, Levi P., enlisted August 23, 1862; discharged June 20, 1864,
disability.

THIRTY-FOURTH INFANTRY (THIRTY-FOURTH AND THIRTY-EIGHTH
CONSOLIDATED).

Not long after consolidating, the regiment went to Kenner, eight miles
- from New Orleans, on the Jackson railroad, and encamped on ground con-
siderably lower than the Mississippi river. January 27, 1865, it arrived at
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Barrancas, Florida ; went into camp until the movement on Fort Blakely, sixty
miles distant ; took part in the assault of April gth, with conspicuous gallantry,
which ended its active service. This regiment was mustered out at Houston,
Texas, August 15, 1865.

COMPANY F.

Transferred from Company A, Thirty-eighth Regiment, December 31,
1864.

First Lieut. Ezra Crosby.

First Sergt. George W. Cook.

Sergt. Brown Sturat.

Sergt. Benj. W. Edsberry.

Sergt. John H. Pitts. -

Corp. James Burrell.

Cbrp. William Kinsey, wounded April 9, 1865, at Blakely, Alabama.

Corp. T. C. Wayman. '

Musician A. M. Currier.

Bailey, William T.

Burk, John.

Butler, Jesse.

Butler, Henry, died May 27, 18635, at New Orleans.

Barnam, Joseph C.

Bartie, Thomas.

Corbin, Daniel.

Cline, Jacob.

Cook, John.

Clamer, William.

Crow, A.

Crosby, G. R.

Clow, N. B.

Davis, Josiah.

Forbes, Daniel C.

Fitch, E. E.

Horrigan, William.

Howe, William H.

Hitch, John.

Hart, Dennis, wounded April 9, 1865, at Blakely, Alabama.

Hageman, John N.
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House, Peter. -
Johnson, William S.
Jennings, John A.
Jennings, Joseph M. -
Lincicum, Jesse.
Maroney, John.
Nicoll, Alex.
Nefzgar, Jacob F.
Staples, S. D.
Starr, Barnard.
Tuttle, Loyd.
Vawser, John.
Walls, Thomas A.
Woods, Neri.

COMPANY G.

Transferred from Company G, Thirty-eighth Infantry, December 3T,
1864. _

Capt. Charles H. Millar.

First Lieut. Leander M. Bunton.

Second Lieut. Edward Easton, enlisted as sergeant Company G, Thirty-
eighth Infantry, August 15, 1862 ; commissioned second lieutenant this Com-
pany January 10, 1865.

Sergt. Lorenzo B. Fish.

Corp. R. T. Watrous.

Sergt. Robert Holden.

Corp. John Weaver.

Corp. C. L. Webber.

Corp. D. F. Nicholas.

Corp. Nelson Mulinix.

Wagoner D. W. Nicholas, discharged February 14, 1863, disability.

Andrews, Noah. ’

Anderson, Henry, wounded April 9, 1865, Blakely, Alabama.

Bacon, C. C.

Boswell, Willis.

Barton, John C.

Dayton, Jonathan.

Deal, William.

(16)
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Doland, John.

Doty, Andrew.

Easton, George W.
Finch, B. W.

Heald, Artemus.

Heald, Seth.

Hughes, R. C.

Howe, Charles.
Hendershott, Thomas.
Johnson, George W.
Kramer, A. G.

Long, David.

Meikle, John.

Moulton, H. A.
McMullen, Robert.
Nutting, Oscar.

Shaffer, David.

Scott, William H.

Spurr, C. C., discharged July 31, 1865, d1sab111ty
Smith, Chauncey.

Thorp, E. W.

Van Buskirk, S.
Watrous, Moses, discharged 1 May 12, 1865, dlsablllty
Osgood, L. K. .
Smith, Willard.

Van Buskirk, John.

COMPANY H.

Transferred from Company H, Thirty-eighth Infantry, December 31,
1864. .

Sergt. William H. H. Myers.

Sergt. C. M. Curtis.

Corp. Thomas M. Follett.

Corporal G. A. Packer.

Corp. George W. Irwin.

Corp. George Zimmerman.

Conner, William T.

Conner, Isaac.
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Crane, E. W.
Crane, Edgar.
Cooley, Jas. C. -~ -
Cain, William.
Dibble, Benj. F.
.Downie, E. B.
Desart, Dennis. - _ .. "
Desart, Leander.
Doud, William M.
Foster, Edwin.
Gillett, Shuble. -

Grossman, Frederick, discharged March 3, 1863, disability.

Johnson, James. T o
Knight, John W.
Kinsel, James.
Kincade, Frederick.
Lee, Martin.

Lee, Andrew.

Lyon, Willis.
Lapage, George.
Minzer, Frederick.
Mattocks, Wilder.
Moore, John W.
Miller, P. J.
Mattocks, Eli.
Mattocks, William R.
Martindale, A.
Mitchell, R. N.
Maze, Thomas.
Mathiason, John M.
Myers, Richard.
Nichols, Wesley.
Ropes, Charles F..
Relay, John.
Schlupp, Jacob.
Stirk, Joseph W.
Smith, Sidney.
Taylor, Ed. J.
Travers, N.
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COMPANY I

Transferred from Company A, Thirty-eighth Infantry, December 3I,
1864.
Second Lieut. James N. Dennis, commissioned January 10, 1865, from

first sergeant.
First Sergt. Holcomb, R. M. Davis, Benj.

COMPANY K.

Transferred from Company F, Thirty-eighth Infantry, December 31,

1864.

First Lieut. Henry M. Shoemaker, enlisted November 4, 1862 ; wounded
at Blakely, Alabama, April 9, 1865.

Sergt. Jacob Miller.

Sergt. George L. Rawson.

Corp. Ashahel Ives.

Corp. Jacob Rush, Jr.

Corp. C. G. Spears.

Corp. Martin Leonhart.

Musician E. Hubbell Pepper.

Burget, George.

Cavin, William E.

Clements, H.

Collins, C. H.

Cook, John.

Hennings, Thomas.

Higby, Milo L.

House, Alex.

House, Jeremiah.

Keasey, C. A., died March 25, 1863.

Kirkpatrick, J. N.

Mansfield, F. W., discharged August 23, 1863, disability.

Mathews, John.

McNutt, George E.

McQuilkin, R. W.

Nichols, Joseph.

Parkhurst, W.

Parker, Samuel.
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Robert, Jesse J., discharged June 6, 1865, disability.
Rawson, James D.
Riser, Gustave.
Robbins, M. C. F.
Robinson, A. J.
Robinson, Jacob F.
Ronco, James J.
Ronco, John.
Soward, George S.
Severson, Barnard.
Simpson, Daniel.
Smith, Eugene.
Smith, J. C.

Soward, S. C.
Spaulding, James.
Thorp, E. M.
Umbarger, J. P.
Vargason, A.
Williams, M. L.
Welsh, D. B.

Welsh, L.

Cooper, Benjamin.
Murray, George, M., musician.

FORTY-SIXTH INFANTRY (ONE HUNDRED DAYS).

This regiment went into service at Davenport, June 10, 1864, and was
forwarded to Cairo, and thence to Memphis, arriving at the latter place June
20th. On June 27th it was ordered to Camp Lookout, near Colliersville,
Tennessee, where the men did heavy duty, being on picket, alternate days, for
about two months. The only brush with the enemy occurred at that place in
August. A squad of guerrillas captured two pickets, and a detachment was
sent out to rescue them, if possible. In the skirmish that followed four of
our men were wounded. On September 1st the Forty-sixth returned to Mem-
phis, and on the 1oth of the same month started homeward, reaching Daven-
port on the 16th. The regiment was mustered out and paid off on the 23rd of
September, 1864. -

Col. David B. Henderson, commissioned June 9, 1864.

Hos. Stew. Edwin A. Kreamer, enlisted May 10, 1864 ; promoted from
second sergeant, Company D, June I0, 1864. -
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"COMPANY D, -

First Lieut. Nathan S. Harwood, commissioned June IO 1864

Corp. Henry G. Reber, enlisted May 10, 1864. ,

Corp. Francis M. Robertson, enlisted May 6, 1864

Corp. Robert Quigley, enlisted May 7, 1864. -

Corp. C. A. Doan, enlisted May 6, 1864 ; died August 27, 1864, at Mem
phis.

Musician William J. Haddock, enlisted May 6, 1864 . -'

Albright, John W., enlisted May 10, 1864. ok

Abbott, Charles N., enlisted May 4, 1864. oL

Blodgett, Oliver, enlisted May 10, 1864. AN

Bean, George E.,, enlisted May 10, 1864. NORNY

Conrad, James, enlisted May 6, 1864. .o

Gray, Harrison W., enlisted May 9, 1864. S e

Metzger, A. E., enlisted May 9, 1864. Coe D

Munger, W. B., enlisted May 14, 1864. L

Norton, Homer E., enlisted May 10, 1864. o

Pepper, William H., enlisted May 10, 1864.

Perkins, Jerry, enlisted May 14, 1864.

Rinker, M. N, enlisted May 21, 1864.

Robbins, Jerome N., enlisted May 10, 1364.

Torode, William, enlisted May 6, 1864.

Wells, Hamilton C., enlisted May 10, 1864.

COMPANY F.
Corp. Joseph Murphy, enlisted May 2, 1864: 0 .
- Corp. Charles Wollmer, enlisted May 1%, 1864.-' :
Stewart, John M., enlisted May 2, 1864. :
Torry, I. B, enhsted May 2, 1864

COMPANY K.
Slusher, John B., enlisted May 13, 1864.

FIFTH IN FANTRY.

Corp. Simon L. Shultz enlisted _Tuly I, 1861 ; dlscha,rged August 18,
1864. ; T
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Corp. John Jarrett, enlisted July 1, 1861; killed -in action May 16, 1863,
at Champion Hills, M1551551pp1

- Corp. William Codling, enlisted July 1, 1861; discharged February 27,
' 1864, at St. Louis, Missouri, on account of wounds.

Cushman, William S., enlisted July 1, 1861; discharged December 3,
1862, disability.

Conkling, A. M., enlisted July 1, 1861 ; discharged February 27, 1864,
at St. Louis, Missouri. -

Davis, John A., enlisted July 1, 1861; discharged December 17, 1863;
Regimental Report says “died of wounds December 17, 1863.” '
" Sitler, George B., enlisted July 1, 1861 ; captured May 17, 1864, at Mad-
ison Station, Alabama; discharged August, 1864. -

Sprague, Herman, enlisted July 1, 1861; discharged -August, 1864.

Spracrue H. C., enlisted July 1, 1861; wounded September 19, 1862, at
Tuka, also wounded May 16, 1863, at Champion Hills.

SIXTH INFANTRY.

Sm1th A. M, enhsted ]uly 15, 1861 ; wounded and died May 12, 1862
at Paducah, Kentucky.

SEVENTH INFANTRY.

- Sergt. Calvin B. Lake, commissioned second lieutenant March 18; 1862;
resigned September 12, 1863.

THIRTEENTH INFANTRY.

Newcomer, Levi, enlisted October 4, 1861 ; re-enlisted as veteran January
4, 1864 ; mustered out July 21, 1865.
Kenyon, Edgar, enlisted November 7, 1864.

FOURTEENTH INFANTRY.

Maj. Leander C. Noble, commissioned February 27, 1862, from civil
life—declined.

Wagoner, F. S. Smith, enlisted March 6, 1863 ; mustered out November
16, 1864.
.~ Robinson, Alvin, enhsted March 23, 1863; mustéred out Novémber 16,
1864.
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RESIDUARY BATTERY—FOURTEENTH INFANTRY.

Robinson, A. E., enlisted March 23, 1863; mustered out August 8, 1865.
Robinson, A. S., enlisted February 1, 1864 ; mustered out August 8, 1865.

SIXTEENTH INFANTRSZ’. .

Asst. Surg. Dixon Alexander, commissioned March 5: 1863 ; mﬁstered.out
July 19, 1865. ' _ .

Baluff, John P., enlisted November 15, 1861; mustered out July 19,
1865.

Brown, John W., enlisted December 9, 1861 ; died July 4, 1862.

Joy, Henry F., enlisted December 10, 1861 ; died February 25, 1862.

Rowland, M. N., enlisted December 7, 1861; died October 14, 1862.

SEVENTEENTH INFANTRY.

Wheeler, Joseph F., enlisted December 16, 1862; re-enlisted as veteran
February 29, 1864; captured October 13, 1864, in Georgia; mustered out
July 25, 1865.

TWENTY-SEVENTH INFANTRY.
Werst, G. C., enlisted August 15, 1862; mustered out August 8, 186s.
TWENTY-EIGHTH INFANTRY.
Gilliam, E. D., enlisted October 17, 1864 ; mustered Qut.July 31, 1865.
FORTIETH INFANTRY.

Sergt. George W. Langham, enlisted August 15, 1862; mustered out
August 2, 1865.

FORTY-FOURTH INFANTRY.
Holmes, J. C., enlisted August 30, 1864; mustered out September 13,

1864.
Webber R. E., enlisted May 15, 1864 ; mustered out September 15, 1864.
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FORTY-SEVENTH INFANTRY.

Barber, Zina L., enlisted May 10, 1864.
Dorland, Cornelius, enlisted May 13, 1864.
Eaton, Arthur H., enlisted May 17, 1864.
Weeks, Lyman G., enlisted May 16, 1864.

» FORTY-EIGHTH INFANTRY.

Teague, William J., enlisted June 20, 18'64; mustered out October 21,
1864. ‘ - ' '

FIRST INFANTRY A. D., SIXTIETH U. S. C. VOLUNTEERS.

Second Lieut. Iram A. Sawyer, enlisted as sergeant-major; commissioned
second lieutenant May 9, 1864; resigned May 26, 1865.

FIFTEENTH WISCONSIN INFANTRY.

Christianson, G.
Christopherson, F.
Helgeson, Ole.
Iverson, Ole.

SIXTEENTH WISCONSIN INFANTRY.
Ward, Royal E., enlisted December 23, 1861..
FIRST CAVALRY.

Fitz Henry Warren, one of the most accomplished of the Iowa politicians,
became one of the editors of the New York Tribune about the time the war
commenced. He had been first assistant postmaster general, but indignantly
resigned when Millard Filmore approved the Fugitive Slave act.  After the
first battle of Bull Run, Mr. Warren, who had previously been elected colonel
of the First Jowa Cavalry, determined to accept, laid down his powerful pen
and grasped the sword.

In July, 1861, six companies were in camp near Burlington, and were
fully organized by the last of August, and were mustered into service early
in September, at Davenport.

In October the regiment was ordered to St. Louis, and eight companies
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patrolled a large portion of Missouri during the following winter. It is said
that that region was extremely unhealthy for guerrillas while it was occupied
by the First Jowa troopers. It had numerous skirmishes with Quantrell
and other outlaws in 1862. ’ o -

On December 3d, the regiment marched to reinforce General Blunt,
at Cane Hill, Arkansas, and led the column advancing on Van Buren, Decem-
ber 28th; and performed effective service in the southwest.

When the war closed, instead of being mustered out, the veterans were-
sent to Texas. There one of its members was flogged by order of General
Custer, against which barbarity Governor Stone earmestly protested, and
asked that the regiment be taken from Custer’s command and honorably
mustered out, and this request was complied with at Austin, Texas, Febraury
15, 1866. . . . .. e

Musician, R. W. Brown enhsted June 13, 1861 mustered out Septem-
ber 1, 1862. . : : : -

COMPANY G.

Carpenter, M. D, enlisted August 26, 1861 ; died December 29, 1864, in

Fayette county.
ggleston, W. K., enlisted January 5, 1864.

FlSh William B.

Heustiss, Benjamin, enlisted December 1, 1863 ; died Auorust 8 1864, at
Little Rock, Arkansas. '

Paris, Charles R., enlisted January 1, 1864; dlscharoed Tanuary 29,
1864, disability. '

Platt, Josiah, enlisted December 29, 1863. -

Roberts, John B., enlisted December 28, 1863.

Ross, Samuel W., enlisted December 28, 1863; discharged for disability.

Sales, William C., enlisted December 29, 1863.

COMI%;A;NYi I
Bonham, M. J., enlisted March 25, 1864.
COMPANY K.
Corp. W. B.. Herriman, enlisted July 18, 1862. . ‘

Weikel, George, re-enlisted as veteran January 1, 1864.
Wolf, Harrison.
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COMPANY M.

Johnson, Otis I., enlisted January 4, 1864.

McCann, Joseph L., enlisted January 4, 1864.

Murray, Abraham, re-enlisted as veteran January 3, 1864.
Strickland, Franklyn, enlisted January 4, 1864.

UNASSIGNED RECRUITS.

Alford, E. M., enlisted January 12, 1864.
Cushman, William S., enlisted January 12, 1864.
Eggleston, C. B., enlisted February 29, 1864.
Gorham, James, enlisted December 14, 1863.
Jones, Allen, enlisted January 23, 1864.
* Reynolds, George, enlisted December 25; 1863.
‘Sherrard, David, enlisted December 14, 1863. -
Wood, Lewis, enlisted January 12, 1864. -

SIXTH CAVALRY.

The Sixth Cavalry was recruited in 1862, and was sent to Dakota Ter-
ritory under General Sully, to operate against the Indians.

The command left the mouth of the Big Cheyenne on the 21st day of
August, 1863, and, on the 3d of September, participated in the battle of White
Stone Hill. From the official report of Col. D. S. Wilson, of that date, is
condensed the following : '

On. the morning of the 3d, Colonel Wilson received an order from
the general commanding, to detail one battalion from his command, and, as
it was the turn of the Third Battalion to scout, an order was issued directing
Major House to report at headquarters for instructions, which was promptly
done. Company M had had their horses used up by constant scouting. The
detail for the scout was Company C, L. L. Ainsworth, captain; Company I,
L. R. Wolf, captain; Company F, S. Shattuck, captain; and Company H, of
Second Battalion, C. J. Marsh, captain. They left the camp at an-early hour.
After their departure the -brigade took up its line of march to a point ten
miles east of White Stone Hill. Major House discovered a very large body
of-Indians at the “Hill,” and commenced a parley to hold them while he
dispatched a messenger to the camp. As soon as.the messenger arrived,
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it was only a few minutes before the whole command was on its way to the
battlefield.  The battle at once began, and upon the Sixth Iowa devolved
the task of surrounding the Indians and driving them in.  On every side
were straggling Indians, endeavoring to escape. The main body, however,
after having been quietly driven quite a distance toward a common center,
says Colonel Wilson, “availed themselves of the darkness that was coming on
by suddenly firing upon us, which fire, although entirely unexpected, was im-
mediately returned by us with terrible effect.” Preperations were then
made to continue the fight on foot, but darkness prevented. = The regiment
went into camp on the battlefield, corralled their horses, threw out pickets,
and the command slept on their arms.  The night was very dark and very
cold, and when morning came, it was discovered that the redskins, under
cover of the thick darkness, had stolen away, ‘“leaving the country strewed
for miles around with their meats, provisions, packs, robes, tepees, goods and
ponies.” In this engagement, the regiment lost one commissioned officer
and ten privates, and had eleven wounded. Colonel Wilson says of his
field and line officers: “From the highest to the lowest, they deserve the
most favorable consideration, and the same may be said of almost the entire
command engaged. Being their first battle, this was their baptism of, fire
and steei, and most nobly did they behave. The high valor earned by the
noble action of the Iowa troops upon the bloody fields of battle has not been
tarnished by the gallant JTowa Sixth, at White Stone Hill.”

On July 28, 1864, the Sixth had a hand in the engagement with the In-
dians at Tahkahkutah, where the redskins occupied a secure position on some
steep and rocky bluffs, partly covered with timber. The Indians threw out
mounted skirmishing parties, eight or ten miles in advance of this position,
which were driven back to the bluffs. The Indians were then shelled out of
their position in the rocks, and forced to retreat with considerable loss.  Au-
gust 8th, the regiment, which had camped the previous night on the Little
Missouri, had a skirmish with a heavy force of Indians, and on the following
day got a chance to charge them a distance of over two miles, killing a con-
siderable number.  The regiment remained in Dakota until winter, bi-
vouacked at Sioux City until spring, and was mustered out at Sioux City,
Towa, October 17, 1865. '

Act. A. surgeon, N. B. Elliot, commissioned December 18, 1862; re-
signed February 27, 1863.

Adjt. Benjamin J. Agard, enlisted as private September 22, 1862;
promoted Adjutant May 5, 1864.
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COMPANY C.

Capt. Lucian L. Ainsworth, commissioned January 31, 1863.

First Lieut. George E. Dayton, commissioned January 31, 1863; pro-
moted captain Company K, March 4, 1864.

First Lieut. Freeman K. Fisk, enlisted as sergeant September 22, 1863;
promoted second lieutenant June 30, 1864, commissioned first lieutenant March
16, 1865.

Second Lieut. Henry Richel, commissioned January 31, 1863; resigned
June 29, 1864.

Second Lieut. Warren D. tSafford, enlisted as quartermaster sergeant
September 22, 1862; commissioned second lieutenant March 16, 1865.

Com. Sergt. A. Dorn, enlisted September 22, 1862.

Sergt. William F. Crawford, enlisted September 22, 1862.

Sergt. George F. Boardman, enlisted September 22, 1862.

Sergt. Daniel R. Blaisdell, enlisted September 22, 1862; discharged May
31, 1865, disability.

Sergt. James Holmes, enlisted September 22, 1862.

Corp. John L. Davis, enlisted September 22, 1862; discharged May 4,
1864, disability. :

Corp. R. E. Burlingham, enlisted September 22, 1862.

Corp. Delos W. Eaton, enlisted September 22, 1862.

Corp. A. M. Childs, enlisted September 22, 1862.

Corp. William Tripp, enlisted September 22, 1862.

Corp. Merritt Smith, enlisted September 22, 1862.

Corp. C. L. Loomis, enlisted September 22, 1362.

Teamster J. Crawford, enlisted September 22, 1862.

Teamster S. W. Osborn, enlisted September 22, 1862.

Saddler James E. Bissell, enlisted September 22, 1862.

Agard, B. E,, enlisted September 22, 1862.

Burrett, A., enlisted September 22, 1862.

Burdin, George, enlisted September 22, 1862.

Burrell, William, enlisted September 22, 1862.

Buttles, O. F., enlisted September 22, 1862.

Burnsides, A. C., enlisted September 22, 1862.

Barnes, A. S., enlisted September 22, 1862.

Clark, Avery, enlisted September 22, 1862; killed September 3, 1863. in
action at White Stone Mills, D. T.

Conrad, L. D., enlisted December I, 1862 ; discharged July 29, 1865.
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Cooley, William H., enlisted September 22, 1862.
Crawford, Arthur, enlisted September 22, 1862.
Conrad, Orlando, enlisted September 22, 1862.
Connegan, Frank, enlisted Septerriber 22, 1862.
Davis, George R., enlisted September 22; 1862.
Eckiman, John, enlisted September 22, 1862.
Eaton, W. C., enlisted September 22, 1862.

Foster, Hiram, enlisted September 22, 1862.
Fortney, Adam, enlisted Septernber 22, 1862.

Farr, Levi L., enlisted September 22, 1862.

Graves, Harley, enlisted September 22, 1862.
Hubbell, M.'S., enlisted September 22, 1862.
Hamilton, Benjamin, enlisted September 22, 1862."
Innis, Robert, enlisted September 22, 1862.

Kellogg, Hiram, enlisted September 22, 1862.
Long, Moses O., enlisted September 22, 1862.
Luse, J. C., enlisted September 22, 1862.
Middlestatts, F., enlisted September 22, 1862.
McDongal, Douoal enlisted October 1, 1862; discharged Apr11 21,

disability.

Nolan, M., enlisted September 22, 1862.

Ober, Francis, enlisted September-18, 1862.°
Paine, William J., enlisted September'23, 1862.
Reeder, Thomas, enlisted September 22, 1862.
Stoops, W. H., enhsted September 18, 1862, d1ed October 10,

at Ft. Rice, D. T.

Sawyer, C. A., enlisted September 22, 1862.
Seeber, H. S., enlisted September 22, 1862.

1863,

1864,

Sheek, Fred, enlisted September 22, 1862; discharged December 26,
1864, disability.

Tague, John, enlisted September 22, 1862.

Tripp, Willis, enlisted September 22, 1862.
Ungerer, Michael, enlisted September 22, 1862.
Vansickle, C. V., enlisted September 22, 1862.
Ward, Robert, enlisted September 22; 1862.
Whitely, George, enlisted October 4, 1862.
Wade, Isaac, enlisted September 22, 1862.
Winslow, A. P., enlisted September 22, 1862. = -
Wickham, Orison, enlisted September 22, 1862.
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Wickham, R., enlisted Septemiber. 22, 1862.
Wakefield, Jacob, enlisted September 22, 1862.
‘Abernathy, James, enlisted February 1, 1863
Budlong, Judiah, October 1, 1863.
Mathis, William W., February 1, ,1863'.
- Roach; M. T, February 1, 1863.
Bingham, James W., enlisted March 19, 1864.
- Gray, James K., enlisted March 31, 1864.
Lackey, Melvin, enlisted March 19, 1864.
Maynard, S. J., enlisted March 2, 1864
Shanklin, M. W., enlisted March 31, 1864.
Schermerhorn, P. B., October 17, 1864.

COMPANY I.

Barnes, B. C., enlisted November 1, 1862.
Hatton, Joseph S., enlisted November 22, 1862.
Heath, William W., enlisted December 1, 1862.
McFarlan, J., enlisted January 1, 1862.

Doxsee, Charles, enlisted March 6, 1863.

SEVENTH CAVALRY. -

This regiment was organized at Camp Hendershott, Davenport, in the
summer of 1863, and ordered to duty against the Indians in Nebraska, Da-
kota, Colorado and Kansas. Portions of the regiment were engaged in the
battles of White Stone Hill, Tahkahokutah, Bad Lands, Little Blue, Julesburg,
Mud Springs, Rush Creek, Horse Creek, Cow Creek, and other engagements,
in-which the brave Iowa boys fought gallantly. The battle of Julesburg, Colo-
rado, was fought by Company F, under Captain O’Brien. The Indians in
large numbers had attacked a train. Captain O’Brien marched to its assist-
ance, and the battle continued during the day. The company lost thirteen
killed, and the Indians lost fifty-five. The regiment remained on the plains
fichting Indians until 1866 and Was mustered out at Leavenworth Kansas
May 17 of that year.

COMPANY E.

McGee, William, enlisted April 3, 1863.
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COMPANY F.

Capt. John F. Brown, enlisted as first sergeant April 1, 1863 ; commis-
sioned first lieutenant February 5, 1866; commissioned captain February 10,
1866 ; discharged as first lieutenant May 5, 1866. :

First Lieut. John S. Brewer, commissioned June 3, 1863; resigned
November 3, 1865.

Second Lieut. Salem Morse, enlisted as sergeant; commissioned second
lieutenant May 23, 1866.

Sergt. William H. Botsford, enlisted March 1, 1863.

Corp. David Olmstead, enlisted March 28, 1863.

Corp. Elvin Pratt, enlisted April 1, 1863.

Corp. George Holmes, enlisted March 23, 1863.

Corp. D. Lippincott, enlisted March 13, 1863; killed January 7, 1863, in
action.

Farrier Thomas Green, enlisted February 5, 1863.

Saddler J. D. Nicoll, enlisted March 1, 1863.

Asbury, Thomas, enhsted April 1, 1863 ; discharged November 2, 1863,
disability.

Burroughs, George L., enlisted April 14, 1863.

Conner, James, enlisted February 1, 1863; died October 5, 1864, at Ft.
Cottonwood, Dakota Territory.

Good, James, enlisted May 1, 1863.

Koons, Anthony, enlisted February 5, 1863; killed January 7, 1865, at
Julesburg, Colorado Territory, in battle.

Larson, James, enlisted April 1, 1863.

Moore, E. D., enlisted April 15, 1863; killed January 7, 1864, at Tules—
burg, Colorado Teritory, in battle.

Nichols, Jerome, enlisted April 1, 1863, discharged by civil authority,
June 23, 1863.

Raymond, William, enlisted March 1, 1863.

Scott, Thomas, enlisted April 1, 1863 ; killed January 7, 1865, at Jules-
burg, Colorado Territory, in action. .

Wagle, C. T, enlisted February 18, 1863.

Woodruff, M., enlisted April 1, 1863.

Wilson, Thomas, enlisted April 1, 1863 ; discharged November 2, 1863,
disability.

Wickman, John S., enlisted April 1, 1863; died July 28, 1863, in regi-
mental hospital.
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COMPANY UNKNOWN.

Baker, Charles, enlisted April 11, 1864.
Bennett, L. S., enlisted April 16, 1864.

NINTH CAVALRY.

This regiment, organized by Col. Matthew M. Trumbull, was the last of
the three-year regiments recruited in Iowa. It was organized at Davenport,
November 30, 1863, and ordered to Arkansas, where it remained performing
heavy scouting, guard and garrison duties, until the close of the war and was
mustered out February 3, 1866.

COMPANY E.

First Lieut. Mark Gilbert, commissioned November 30, 1863; resigned
September 8, 1864.

First Lieut. Henry W. Harmon, commissioned second lieutenant Novem-
ber 30, 1862; commissioned first lieutenant September 9. 1864 ; resigned July
3 1865 . :

Second Lieut. Walstein Davis, enlisted as private; commissioned second
lieutenant July 4, 1865.

Quartermaster Sergt. H. A. Beck, enlisted August 17, 1863.

Com. Sergt. Thomas H. Karfman, enlisted July 4, 1863.

Sergt. William C. Foster, enlisted July 15, 1863; died August 14, 1864,
at Duvall’s Bluff, Arkansas.

Corp. James E. Carter, enlisted July 20, 1863.

Corp. Patten Davis, enlisted August 23, 1863; died March 26, 1864, at
St. Louis.

Corp. Jeptha Funson, enlisted July 1, 1863.

Corp. A. C. Carson, enlisted July 1, 1863.

Trumpeter E. Evenson, enlisted July 2, 1863.

Farrier George V. Davis, enlisted October g, 1363.

Farrier Joseph E. Conrad, enlisted September 23, 1863.

Saddler John M. Detrick, enlisted July 13, 1863.

Anderson, John, enlisted July 25, 1863; died April 23, 1865, at Browns-
ville Station, Arkansas.

Baker, Milo C., enlisted June 30, 1863 ; died October 24, 1864, at Browns-
ville Station, Arkansas. i

(17)
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Bradley, C. T., enlisted August 11, 1863; died September 21, 1864, at
Little Rock, Arkansas.
Brown, A., enlisted July 29, 1863; died December 24, 1864, near Hickory
Plains, Arkansas. :
Dutcher, Charles E., enlisted August 1, 1863.
Dershan, William, enlisted July 6, 1863.
Howe, Isaac J., enlisted July 21, 1863.
1liff, Jasper N., enlisted July 1, 1863.
Kibbe, L. J., enlisted July 25, 1863.
Linnell, S. G., enlisted June g, 1863.
Learn, Samuel, enlisted June 23, 1863.
Lathan, F. B., enlisted October 3, 1863.
Monnahan, J. P., enlisted October 1, 1863.
Oleson, Emerick, enlisted July 29, 1863.
Pringle, Robert, enlisted July 20, 1863.
Rogers, L. D., enlisted June 18, 1863.
Rhoades, John, enlisted October 1, 1863.
Staddon, James, enlisted June 19, 1863.
Stafford, L., enlisted July 3, 1863.
Sergeant, P. W., enlisted July 22, 1863.
Stone, Daniel E., enlisted July 18, 1863.
Shook, Charles F., enlisted July 18, 1863.
Schwartz, Fred K., enlisted August 8, 1863.
Shannon, Thomas, enlisted October 6, 1863.
Tripp, William R., enlisted August 24, 1863.
Thompson, C. S., enlisted November 3, 1863.
Taylor, David, enlisted July 15, 1863.
Wright, Royal R., enlisted November 1, 1863.

COMPANY F.
Lee, Jasper, enlisted December 26, 1863.
SECOND CAVALRY,
Gifford, Elias, enlisted December 7, 1863; mustered out September 19,

1865.
Wood, Elias, enlisted December 4, 1863 ; died March 9, 1864, at Nash-

ville, Tennessee.
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Davis, S. J., enlisted January 2, 1864 ; mustered out September 19, 1865.

Wood, Levi, enlisted January 2, 1864 ; wounded December 1 5, 1864, at
Nashville, Tennessee.

Desart, John, enlisted December 135, 1863 ; died June 19, 1864, at Mem-
phis, Tennessee.

Logan, Lyman, enlisted December 15, 1863; mustered out September
19, 1865.

Clark, Charles W., enlisted December 15, 1863 ; wounded.

Conner, Benjamin, enlisted September 13, 1864 ; died F ebruary 19, 1863,
at Memphis.

Linn, William H., enlisted January 4, 1864 ; mustered out September 19,
1865.

Bartlett, William, enlisted August 4, 1861; deserted at Rienzi, Missis-
sippi, July 18, 1862.

Hurd, James, mustered out September 19, 1863.

FOURTH CAVALRY.

Color-Sergt. L. D. Wellman, enlisted December 12, 1863 ; wounded.
Flinn, Lewis, enlisted September 25, 1861; re-enlisted December 12,
1863.
Platt, Milton, enlisted September 23, 1861 ; wounded October 11, 1862.
Nash, Cassius M., enlisted January 11, 1864 ; mustered out August 10,
1865.
FIFTH VETERAN CAVALRY, CONSOLIDATED.

Davis, L. B., enlisted April 11, 1864 ; mustered out August 11, 1865.

Earle, S. M., enlisted April 23, 1864 ; mustered out August 11, 1865.

Simar, Anson E., enlisted April, 1864 ; mustered out August 11, 1865.

Corp. Hela C. Sprague, enlisted July 1, 1861; re-enlisted as veteran
January 5, 1864, mustered out August 11, 1865.

Sprague, Henan, enlisted July 1, 1861; re-enlisted as veteran January
5, 1864, mustered out August 11, 1865.

FIRST MISSOURI CAVALRY, STATE MILITIA.

Sergt. Norton B. Johnson, enlisted June 14, 1862.
Musician David H. Johnson, enlisted July 13, 1863.
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TWELFTH ILLINOIS CAVALRY.
Hayward, John F., enlisted December 6, 1861.
Mills, M. P., enlisted December 6, 1861.

Newcomb, Clark, enlisted December 6, 1861.
Pattie, A. D., enlisted December 6, 1861.

ARTILLERY—SECOND BATTERY.

Spencer, James, enlisted September 9, 1864; mustered out August 7,
1865.



CHAPTER XIV.
EDUCATIONAL HISTORY OF FAYETTE COUNTY.

“Tell me a tale of the airly days—
Of the times as they ust to be.”

Wherever the Anglo-Saxon takes his family, he takes his ideals, and he
usually keeps his ideals near enough to the real so that he can reach them.
However numerous the difficulties, and however great the privations, he has
ever striven to educate himself, and he has given to his descendants better ad-
vantages than he himself has had. Though he came to Iowa from the frontier
woods and prairies, or the developed cities of the East, he brought with him
a desire to give to his children better training than he had.

It was with these people that Fayette county first became settled. It was
these people who gave to Fayette county her early history, and although these
people themselves, many of them, have long since gone to their reward, trdces
of their ideals are as plainly marked as were the trails of the red men across
our unbroken prairies in the days when they lived. The history of these rug-
ged ‘pioneers is written with the indelible pen of progress, and no pages are
more legible than those of their early schools, plus their ideals, that have
grown into our schools of today.

Many of these mighty writers are gone, and of those who remain, only
a few can be found who remember, in detail, the beginning of our public
school system in Fayette county. Nearly sixty years have passed since this
beginning. No trace now remains of the old log school house, with its dirt
or puncheon floor ; with its puncheon benches set around the wall, and punch-
eon door; with its windows, sometimes on one side only and sometimes on
two, made by taking out a log and leaving the hole open or covering it with
greased paper; with its fireplace and back-log. The lonely path to the school,
where the children often encountered wolves, deer, and wild turkey, and some-
times saw a bear or wild cat, are now fenced highways with bowing grain and
lowing herds on every side. ' '
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“Beside yon lonely path, in rural school,

The master sought his little flock to rule.

The neighbors all declared how much he knew;
"Twas certain he could write and cipher too;
Lands he could measure, terms and tides presage,
And even the story ran that he could gauge.

In arguing, too, the parson owned his skill;

For ¢’en though vanquished, he could argue still;
While words of learned length and thundering sound
Amazed the gazing rustics ranged around,

And still they gazed and still the wonder grew
That one small head should carry all he knew.”

But how different is our history from that indicated in Goldsmith’s next
line. He says, “But past is all his fame.” We must say, “But alive is all his
fame.” Goldsmith further says, “The very spot, where many a time he
triumphed, is forgot.” Though we may have forgotten the names of many
of our early teachers in Fayette county, if we ever knew them; though we
may have forgotten that they sometimes taught in private houses for one dol-
lar per week, and “boarded 'round;”’ though we may have forgotten that the
term lasted only a few weeks in the year; though we may have forgotten that
there were as many different kinds of text books as there were different
families in the neighborhood,—we have not forgotten, nor can we forget,
that in these schools lessons were so well taught that those pupils have made
Fayette county one of the most enlightened, prosperous and patriotic counties
in Towa; and the teachers of today, though provided with most of the equip-
ment known to modern education, have a task to teach these lessons equally
well.

The following figures, taken from the county superintendent’s report for
the vear 1909, show, in brief, something of the magnitude of our school sys-
tem at the present time:

Number of school houses ......... ... ... ... ... ... 191
Number of school rooms. .................. e 254
Value of school houses ........................... $244,860
Average number of months in school year............ 8.4
Teachers emploved—Males ....................... 24
Teachers emploved—Females ..................... 323

Amount paid teachers in 1908-9.................... $88,543.56
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Number of pupils between five and twenty-one, males.. 4,598
Number of pupils between five and twenty-one, females. 4,456
Volumes in libraries .........cooiiiiiiennnnnneens 17,830
Value of apparatus ...........coiieenenenenaionnns 12,840
Average compensation paid—Males................. $70.35
Average compensation paid—Females............... $39-80

Every city, town and village now has a graded school system, and the
rural schools have been so far graded that since 1903 they have held rural
school commencements each summer, where from fifty to one hundred country
boys and girls have taken diplomas, showing that thev have completed the
first eight years of the school course, which diplomas admit them to any high
schools in the county.

[The preceding article by Hon. H. L. Adams is not intended to be ex-
haustive, but simply an introduction to the subject of education, the minutiee
of which appears in connection with the history of the townships, towns and
villages under their proper classification.—EDITOR. ]

PUBLIC SCHOOLS OF FAYETTE.

The first school taught in the vicinity of Fayette was presided over by
a Miss Adaline Fuller, a young lady who came into the neighborhood with
the family of Clark Newcomb late in 1850 or very early in 1851. The school
was kept during the summer of 1851, and probably for several terms there-
after, in the log cabin known as the “Wilcox place.” This cabin stood on the
west bank of Spring creek just at the spot where a little bridge now spans the
stream a short distance west of the residence of A. N. McGarvey and about
forty rods north of the house long known as the “Lamb place,” but at that
time the residence of Col. Robert Alexander. How long the school was
housed in the old “Wilcox place” is not definitely known, but probably until
the log school house was built in the spring of 1853. The school as taught
at that place was composed of pupils from the families of Robert Alexander,
James E. Robertson, Samuel H. Robertson, Dr. (afterwards Colonel) Aaron
Brown and N. N. Sykes. Meantime other families came into the community,
the Dooleys, the Osborns, the Andersons. the Crowes and the Bogues, so that
greater conveniences and a more central location were demanded. It must
be remembered. too, that the numerical ratio between pupils and families was
not the same then as now. That was not an age of “race suicide.” One
family invoiced twenty-five children and two other families in an adjoining
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district registered eighteen children each. A school house was a necessity.
The location chosen was in a beautiful grove about four rods southeast of the
present residence of Charles Follett in the west part of town. It was built of
logs, rolled up in the rough and “scalped down” on the inside, was about
sixteen by eighteen feet in size, had four windows, each having six panes of
eight-by-ten glass. A desk was built around the sides, with a bench in front,
on which the pupils might sit facing either way. In the fall of 1855 regular
desks were put in and the ceiling was lathed and plastered. The winter fol-
lowing, the attendance reached fifty-three. The teachers were expected to
“board around” up to the spring of 1856, when the custom was discontinued.

How many terms Miss Fuller taught in the school is a matter neither of
record nor of tradition. It was long enough, however, to make a lasting im-
pression on the pupils. She is remembered as a pleasant lady, a faithful,
painstaking instructor, striving in every way to accomplish the best for those
under her care. Miss Louisa Newcomb taught in the summer of 1855, and
J. L. Paine in the winter of 1855-6. E. R. Mulnix and Mrs. Desdemona
Dunham Mulnix in the spring and summer of 1856, followed in the winter
by Wellington Goodrich.

Fayette Seminary opened January 7, 1857, and shortly afterwards a
primary department was established and for a time took the place of the public
school. This course seemed the more necessary inasmuch as the log school
house had been erected on private land, and in the booming days of 1857 had
been sold, its days of usefulness being considered ended. A building on Main
street, owned by George Smith, was next used for school purposes, some of the
time for select school, at other times for public school. Later, probably in
1860, a building which had been erected by Colonel Alexander a mile or so to
the northeast of the geographical center of the county, hoping to have the
county seat located there, and had been moved to a lot on West Water street,
owned by Fleming Jones, was used for school purposes. It is also probable
that both buildings were in use at the same time during some parts of the
year.

No records have been found prior to 1862. The recollections of the
people, especially those who attended school in those days, are the only sources
of information. These recollections give the following named persons as
having taught in one or both of these rooms: Fred A. Mitchell, Mary Martell,
Celia Dayton, Christiana Beane, Miss Doud, Miss Farrar, D. Lorin Bugbee,
Miss Barrett, David C. Sperry, Jennie Cole, George Dayton, Miss Eaton, Miss
Wiltse, Marian Babcock and N. S. Harwood.

The earliest record that has been found bears date of October &, 1862.



FAYETTE COUNTY, IOWA. 265
On that date a meeting of the electors was held at the school house on Water
street and D. Vines was elected president of the board; E. A. Hallock, vice-
president; H. M. Burch, secretary, and Dr. D. Alexander, M. B. Norton and
Alex Winston, directors. It was decided to maintain three schools during
the ensuing winter, two in Fayette and one in Westfield. The Fayette teach-
ers were paid eighteen per month each and the Westfield teacher thirteen dol-
lars. Rooms were rented from D. Vines, Andrew Doty and P. D. Gardner.
In February, 1863, the board provided for two schools for the spring term,
one in Fayette and one in Westfield, in the Vines and Doty rooms. At this
same meeting, D. Vines, E. A. Hallock'and H. M. Burch appointed a commit-
tee “to get plans for school house.”

Simeon Henry Drake, who was graduated from the Upper Iowa Uni-
versity at the preceding commencement, was employed to teach the Fayette
school, but resigned November 23d to enter the army.

On April 18, 1864, a tax of one mill was levied for a teachers’ fund
and one and a half mills for a contingent fund. Rooms were rented for
the winter of 1864-5 of Charles Hoyt and Fred Cain. January 28, 1863,
lots were purchased of Edwin Cave for one hundred and fifty dollars, and in
March following it was decided to build a brick school house.  1n April,
1863, a tax of ten mills was voted for school house funds, and on February
I, 1866, plans and specifications for a school house, prepared by G. P. Randall
of Chicago, were adopted. ~For some reason these plans were not used, but
had to be paid for to the amount of one hundred and seventy dollars.  The
plans of Rev. Mr. Skinner were finally adopted as a basis for the work of con-
struction. A room for the winter term of 1865-6 was rented from Mrs. E.
Alexander, and Miss Catherine Alexander was one of the teachers. The
subjects taught were orthography, reading, writing, arithmetic, grammar and
geography. .

The records do not so state directly, but it is probable that the schools
were first housed in their own building, the one that now accommodates the
first six grades, in the winter of 1866-7, two teachers only being employed,
William C. McNeal and Elizabeth Strayer. In the ensuing fall only two
teachers were employed, Miss Kate Wilcox and Miss Jennie Cole. By win-
ter the two upper rooms were occupied, thus utilizing the whole of the house
as then constructed, and Ella Ridpath and Carrie Robertson were added to
the teaching force. Miss Ridpath resigned before the close cf the term and
it was completed by Ben. W. Lacy, now Judge Lacy, of Dubuque.

On April 28, 1868, the following teachers were elected for three months:
C. W. Wright, principal, William Garrison, Jennie Cole, and Carrie Robert-
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son. Previous to that time the records are silent as to the names of teachers
except in the cases mentioned. From that time onward the principals and
teachers came in the order given in their respective lists. The annals thus
far given have been necessarily dependent largely on the memory of the older
members of the community.

Daniel Vines was president of the board from 1862 until 1870, M. C.
Sperry, D. Shaffer, J. L. Paine and A. Winston from that time until 1874,
and Allen Holmes from that date till 1880. The following list gives names
and tenures of subsequent incumbents: Amos Matthews, five years; G. R.
Edmunds, one year; J. E. Robertson, one year; J. W. McLean, two years;
Ed Kelley, four years; J. H. Boyce, three years; Ed. Kelley, three years; J.
W. McLean, two years; F. E. Sanders, one year; M. J. Hartman, nine years.

The names of those who have held the office of secretary from 1862 to
1910 are: H. M. Burch, S. E. Waterbury, M. F. Billings, P. R. Woods, E.
C. Howe, W. F. Boyce, John E. Fowells, A. J. Berkstresser, W. M. Rickert
and George M. McCann. The office of treasurer has been filled by J. L.
Grannis, Thomas Fowells, S. E. Waterbury and C. R. Carpenter.

At the March meeting of 1881 a tax of eight hundred dollars was voted
with which to build the addition on the west side of the grade building, thus
furnishing six rooms, and when these became insufficient to properly accom-
modate the increasing attendance, a room was secured for a time over George
Scobey’s store. At length, on March 14, 1898, a tax was voted with which
to erect the present commodious high school building.  This was occupied
in the fall of 1900, since which time the schools have been under the direction
of Superintendents L. T. Newton, J. E. Moore and C. D. McGoon. Harold
S. Craig has been elected to the position, to begin his work in the fall of 1910.

Principals and teachers from 1868 to 1910 have been as follows:

Principals—C. W. Wright, J. C. Magee, J. W. Callender, Sarah E.
Preston, Rev. W. H. Miller, M. J. Goodrich, Chauncey Burch, T. F. Johnson,
Mr. Mariott, Sarah B. Scobey, J. S. VanDyke, C. A. Husband, J. B. Knoep-
fler, P. R. Woods, H. F. Kling, S. S. Wright, J. W. Wyatt, F. H. Bloodgood,
A. E. Chapman, C. F. Geiser, F. E. Finch, Mable Lossing and Eleanor Gar-
rison.

Teachers—William Garrison, Susie James, Lydia Butler, Maxie Patter-
son, George Gregory, Lucretia Brunson, D. L. Bugbee, S. A. Rafter, Sarah
B. Scobey, Nellie Aldrich, Lucretia Parsons, Emma Potter, Mattie Boyce,
Nettie Barnard, Miss Palmer, Ella Lee, Fannie Alexander, Grace Strong,
Elizabeth Woodward, Emma Rice, Mary Ordway, Miss Van De Mark, Hettie
Latimer, Miss Sanford, Alsina Boardman, Belle Fowells, Miss Appleman,
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Carrie Scobey, Nellie A. Jones, Willa Holmes, Miss L. C. Holmes, Mrs.
Elizabeth Sayles, Abbie Woodward, Hattie Thornton, Della Mack, Alma
Muffly, Elva Welling, Sarah Cavanaugh, T. V. Hunt, Mrs. R. W. Temple,
Mary D. Hatch, Sylvia Markham, Ella Widger, Dell Noble, Ina Hayward,
Fannie Grannis, George W. Cotton, Joanna Davis, Marilla Mathews, Mrs. A.
E. Chesley, Anna Fowells, Mary Bailey, Anna L. Huie, Harriet Bogert,
Lucy A. Hunt, Ida S. Will, Mrs. Boale, Edith F. Ellsbury, 1. Belle Mathews,
E. Emah Will, Day L. Grannis, Josephine Burling, Hattie McLean, Ada L.
Whitley, Minnie Taylor, Etta Eldredge, Sue M. Merriam, Matie Alexander,
Lillian Miles, Lillian Will, Dollie Twitchell, Edith Snowden, Esther O'Neal,
Miriam Confare, Georgia Stafford, Edith Lockridge, Lena Walker, Mildred
Simonds, Bessie Darling, Dora Carter, Josephine Liers, Myra Finney, Lillian
Ludwig, Erma Cole, C. D. McGoon, T. M. E. Peck, Martha Paulus, Enah
Hill, Hadwin Williams, Edna Dorman, Herbert Percy-Hames, Jessie Manson
and Mrs. H. W. Troy. Since the introduction of music and art, Misses
Violet Hammond, Cora S. Jones and Enah Hill have taught the former, and
Mrs. Mabel L. Patterson, Miss Nellie Stevenson and Prof. Frank J. Davis,
the latter.

UPPER IOWA UNIVERSITY.

One afternoon in the fall of 1834 a mother, in the vicinity of Fayette,
asked her presiding elder what it would cost to send two of her daughters
away to the nearest college. ~ “About 2 thousand dollars apiece to send them
through college,” was his reply. “Why can’t we have a college here for
our children?”’ was her next question, to which the elder replied, “Why not?”
The woman who is therefore entitled to the credit of having first suggested
a college at Fayette was Mrs. Robert Alexander and the presiding elder who
joined in the thought was Rev. H. S. Bronson. May these never be for-
gotten by the youth of northern Jowa!

In a subsequent conversation between Mrs. Alexander, Samuel Robert-
son, James Robertson and others, the need of a Christian educational institu-
tion for northern Iowa was discussed and a lively hope developed. But to
talk about building a college and to build a college are two very different
propositions.  To do the former is inexpensive, to do the latter takes money.

There was only one man in the county at that time who had any consider-
able amount of money and that man was Robert Alexander, husband of the
woman who longed for the college.  Mr. Alexander was a typical frontiers-
man. He was at this time sixty years of age, not a Christian, but a man of
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energy, courage and power. He had moved from Indiana to this locality
in 1849, coming all the way by team. His sons-in-law, Samuel and James
Robertson, had come with him.  In the previous twenty years he had accu-
mulated eighteen thousand dollars, which he brought with him: in gold. A
part of this he invested in land, including that upon which Fayette now stands,
until by 1854 he possessed an aggregate of eight thousand acres.

To this busy, worldly man came his wife and the others interested in
the founding of a college, urging the following propositions: (1) the great
need of better educational facilities for the locality; (2) the influence that
a college would have to draw settlers to the vicinity; (3) the fact that the
best people would be attracted by the college; (4) the consequent influence
of the college to rapidly increase land values. The plan appealed to the
judgment of Mr. Alexander and at the urgent request of his wife he started
the project with a cash subscription of ten thousand dollars.

Samuel Robertson made a cash subscription of five thousand dollars,
and gave ten acres of land for the campus. James E. Robertson also made
a cash subscription.  Thus the enterprise, which was destined to have such
a mighty influence for good throughout the county, the state, the nation and
reaching even in tremendous power to foreign lands, was inaugurated.

Long live the memory of those who founded our institution! They
were of the salt of the earth. They were men and women of vision. They
had come to a new country to blaze a way for civilization and fight the battle
of life in “God’s free out of doors.”  They had faith in the future possibili-
ties of the country, hope for its speedy development, and love for the children
growing up around them. They foresaw that the greatest and most
permanent good which could possibly be accomplished for the community would
be the founding of an educational institution for the youth of the land/

The undertaking was begun as a private enterprise. ~ Motives of private
gain were present as stimulating forces in the beginning.  But what nobler
ideas could have impelled the early pioneers in their efforts to increase land
values?  The best settlers were to be attracted to Fayette county by the
presence of a paramount civilizer—an educational institution of higher learn-
ing. )
It was in the winter of 1854-5 that an organization was effected for the
purpose of founding the school and erecting the building.  There was at
this time no town of Fayette.  The site selected for the building and the ten
acres donated by ‘Samuel Robertson for the campus lay on a rise of ground in
the open field.  The only houses near were those of James and Samuel Rob-
ertson.  The college was located and then the land platted and the town
built around it.
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During the following summer (1855) the main building (for many years
called the Seminary building) was begun and the walls of the first story
erected. The first plan was to build of rubble stone, and the contract was let
to John A. Griffith, of Auburn, for eight thousand dollars. Mr. Griffith
employed Charles West, then a young man who had recently come from
Brooklyn to West Union, as foreman of the job. ~When Mr. West reached
Fayette (just beginning to build) and investigated the quarries he found
the stone of such excellent quality that he strongly urged the abandonment
of the first plan and the erection of a more substantial building made of cut
stone. The first contract was accordingly cancelled and a new contract en-
tered into with Grifith and West.  The new contract called for twenty
thousand dollars to enclose and roof the building and a subscription contract
provided for the interior finishing for the added sum of ten thousand dollars,
making the entire first cost of the main building thirty thousand dollars.

In the fall the private company which had begun the enterprise decided
to offer the seminary to the Iowa conference, and nominated the following
board of trustees: H. S. Bronson, H. W. Reed, John Webb, Perry Perkins, S.
M. Leach, J. H. Maxon, J. R. Cameron, A. J. Kynett, C. R. Bent, J. E. Rob-
ertson, L. S. Ashbaugh, J. S. Brewer, S. H. Robertson, J. A. Griffith, Moses
Pridmore, T. J. Hazlett, William Logan and J. W. Foster.

The offer was accepted by the conference and the nominations for trustees
confirmed. Under the direction of this board, work was continued on the
building during the year 1856 with such energy that by January 7, 1837,
the first story was ready for occupancy.  During the summer of 1856 the
board of trustees had selected Rev. William H. Poor, A. M., as principal of
the seminary and this selection was approved by the Upper Towa conference
at its first session held at Maquoketa in the fall of 18356, the conference having
at this session adopted the school. The first term of school was advertised
to begin January 1, 1857, but owing to the incomplete condition of the build-
ing, school did not begin until January 7th.

Work continued on the second and third stories until they were finished
in the summer of 1857. The limestone used in the construction of this
building was gotten from the quarries immediately around Fayette. — The
dimension lumber is oak cut from an eighty acres four miles east of Fayette
and sawed in what is now known as Grannis’s mill. The pine used in finish-
ing the floors was bought at Saginaw, Michigan, floated down the river to
Dubuque and hauled from there by teams to Fayette, a distance of about
eighty miles. It cost sixty-six dollars per thousand feet at Dubuque.

Only one serious accident occurred during the construction of the build-
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ing.  While completing the cornice, and only about an hour before it would
have been finished, the staging gave way on which Charles West and his
brother were working and fell to the ground, a distance of about thirty-five
feet. Mr. West’s brother caught hold of the third story window sill and held
on until rescued, but Charles fell with the staging to the ground. He was
carried to his boarding place in an unconscious condition, but within two
weeks was able to be at work again.

When the building was nearly completed there was still due the con-
tractors, Griffith and West, the sum of twelve thousand dollars and there
were no funds with which to pay the obligation. The agents of the school
were unable to secure any more money. The obligation must be met or the
doors remain closed. It seemed that the undertaking must come to naught.

At this juncture Robert Alexander came to the rescue.  He had no
ready money, but he had land. = He called in the agent, Rev. E. C. Bryan,
and gave him power of attorney, instructing him to go east and mortgage
whatever was necessary to secure the needed amount. = Mr. Bryan succeeded
in borrowing the twelve thousand dollars from one G. A. Austin, of Vermont,
giving him a mortgage on one thousand five hundred acres of Alexander’s
land. It was expected that the amount would be secured and Mr. Alexander
repaid before the maturity of the mortgage, but such was not the case. His
loan became a forced contribution to the school and on September 24, 1860,
Mr. Alexander deeded over four thousand acres of land to Mr. Austin to
satisfy the mortgage, which by this time amounted to nearly seventeen thou-
sand dollars.

The beautiful element in this whole transaction is that Mr. Alexander
did not regret or chafe under the loss of this property in the least. The
reason is not difficult to find.  After the mortgage had been given and dur-
ing the first term of school he had found his Saviour as a result of evangel-
istic meetings held in the chapel of the very building for which he had done
so much. It was therefore the best investment he had ever made.

Let him who thinks that Mr. Alexander was really poorer for what he
gave to Upper Iowa University reflect a moment. How could he possibly
have done better with his money? He made it possible to found and open an
institution which has been a blessing and benediction to the rising generations
from the day of its opening. Its influence has extended beyond the state
to the nation and even to the uttermost parts of the earth. = What better
gift could he have left to posterity.

Culture, civilization, Christianity have all been increased by his gifts.
His friends were multiplied and their friendships deepened. He found his
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God and possessed an abiding faith which carried him through the hour of
death into the very presence of his Lord. Is this failure? Rather is it the
highest possible success.

The school began as “Fayette Seminary” and so continued until 1838,
when, a collegiate organization having been effected, the name was changed
to Upper lowa University.

Rev. William H. Poor was succeeded by Rev. Lucius H. Bugbee, D. D,
who was elected principal of the seminary in the fall of 1857 and president of
the college in 1838. He served the institution for three years, retiring in
1860.

These early years of the history of the institution were years of great dii-
ficulties and embarrassments. The doors had hardly been opened when the
panic of 1857 swept over the country, making it quite impossible to secure
funds so sorely needed. Many who had made pledges found it impossible
to make payment. The country was new; no railroad reached Fayette; a
threatening cloud was rising; the need of college training was not yet felt.
The faith of the trustees and others who stood by the school during those days
is the faith that can remove mountains of difficulties and obstacles.

In 1860 Rev. William Brush, D. D., succeeded to the presidency and re-
mained the vigorous leader of the institution until 1869.  Dr. Brush brought
to the school an enthusiastic and forceful administration. ~ Under the most
trying circumstances he never lost heart or hope, but labored on with an
energy and power seldom equaled. ~ With his mule team he traveled the
country far and near, soliciting funds and seeking students. Of the former
he did not secure much, but was successful in materially increasing the student
body.

The influence of the war spirit, or the peculiarly pugnacious temperament
of Dr. Brush, or both combined, made his administration the period of more or
less crude pranks on the part of the students. It was the period of putting sheep
on the roof, cows in the chapel, stealing the bell clapper, disposing of the presi-
dent’s carriage, etc.

The most important incident or series of incidents in connection with
his administration began in 1861.  The interesting and patriotic act of the
college boys in leaving their books for the defense of their country—the best
in the world—cannot be better told than has been done by Major D. W.
Reed in the Appendix to his “Twelfth Regiment Towa Veteran Volunteer In-
fantry.” I quote him in part:

“Farly in the summer of 1861 the students of Upper Towa University at
Fayette, Iowa, organized a company for drill, calling themselves ‘Univer-
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sity Recruits,” and resolved: That whenever the occasion demands it we will
drop our books to fight our country’s ‘battles.  Several members of this .
organiation entered the service during the summer in the Third and Ninth
Iowa, but at the opening of the fall term, September 2, 1861, the company was
still intact and daily drills on the campus were at once resumed.

“The call of President Lincoln for three hundred thousand men con-
vinced the boys that the time had come for them to carry out their resolutions,
and at a public meeting in University Chapel in the afternoon of September
15, 1861, twenty-three members enrolled their names and pledged themselves
to answer the President’s call for troops. One of those who signed the roll,
after deliberation, asked to be excused ‘because he had married a wife and
could not go.” Two joined other organizations, and one was rejected by
the mustering officer. Nineteen became members of Company C, Twelfth
Towa.

“Immediately after enrollment all the members left school under an
agreement that each should go to his own home on recruiting service, and
should return to Fayette in one week with recruits obtained. At the ap-
pointed time one hundred and one men, the full complement allowed in a com-
pany, reported for duty, and on the 28th, just thirteen days after the first
name was signed to the roll, the service of the company was accepted by the
governor, and the company was ordered into quarters at the Fayette House
and commenced the regular routine of drill. The election of officers was had
with result as follows: Captain, W. W. Warner; first lieutenant, D. B. Hen-
derson ; second lieutenant, A. M. Smith; sergeants, G. W. Cook, Gilbert Hazlet,
Emery Clark, James Stewart; corporals, David Connor, Thomas Henderson,
P. R. Ketchum, S. F. Brush, J. F. Hutchins, D. D. Warner, G. L. Durno,
James Barr.

“Twenty-two students leaving the school in a body made sad havoc with
the classes, and President Brush undertook to counteract the patriotic tend-
encies of the students by writing letters to parents urging them to use their
paternal authority and forbid the enlistment. His efforts were counteracted
by the preceptress, Miss E. A. Sorin, who gave the boys her sympathy, be-
came their champion, and remained their true friend during the war. No
better record of woman’s devoted service to the Union can be shown than
was shown by her in her interest for ‘her boys.’ Calling the young ladies of
the university together, she interested them in her plans, and they purchased
material and with their own hands made a beautiful flag for the company,
upon which they embroidered the name in full ‘University Recruits 101.’
This flag was presented to the company by Miss Sorin in behalf of the ladies
of the Upper Iowa University in a very patriotic and touching address.
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“Captain Warner responded very appropriately as he received the flag.
The position of fifth sergeant was not filled at the time of election of other
officers, but ‘was by unanimous vote of the company left to the choice of the
donors of the flag, with the understanding that the one elected by them should
be color bearer for the company. In a spirited contest, the secrets of which
have never been fully revealed to the company, Henry J. Grannis was duly
elected color bearer. It will not be inappropriate to say here that no election
‘ever gave better satisfaction or proved more completely the wisdom of the
electors. Upon the organization of the regiment this company was assigned
as color company, Grannis was appointed as color sergeant, and carried the
colors of the regiment in every battle in which the regiment was engaged

during the war, and no one will say that the flag of any regiment was ever
more gallantly borne, or that any color bearer in any war was more devoted to
his trust than was the one elected by the ladies of the Upper Iowa University.

“The University Recruits remained in quarters at the Fayette House,
drilling, until October 16th, when at eight A. M. the company was paraded
on the campus and many assembled friends passed along the line and bade
each one good-bye, and the company marched away to the hill south of town
where seventeen wagons were waiting to convey the boys to Independence.
As the company marched from the campus and until it disappeared from sight
over the hill, the friends continued to waive their adieus, while some one, more
zealous than thoughtful, set the old university bell tolling as if it were a long
farewell, as, indeed, it proved to be to many of those who marched so gallantly
away that bright October morning.” :

The gallant record of the Upper Iowa University boys and Company C
_cannot be given here. Only one more quotation from Major Reed’s work
concerning the color bearer: '

“Henry J. Grannis, first lieutenant Company C, was a native of Indiana,
born in 1841. He was one of the original members of the University Re-
cruits and enlisted in the United States service September 15, 1861. He
was elected fifth sergeant and color bearer of the company by the ladies of
the university upon presenting a flag to the company and upon the organiza-
tion of the regiment, when his company became color company. Grannis was
designated as regimental color bearer, which position he held through the war.
He carried the colors of the regiment at Fort Henry, Fort Donelson and
Shiloh and was taken prisoner on that field, remaining prisoner until October.
On the reorganization of the regiment he resumed his old position and car-
ried the flag on every march in every campaign and during every battle in
which the regiment was engaged from enlistment to muster out, a record we

(18)
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venture to say made by no other color bearer in the service. In several en-
gagements the colors were riddled in his hands. On one occasion every
guard was killed or wounded, yet, strange to say, Grannis never received a
scratch nor suffered the flag to go from his hands. That it was always at the
front and carried with the greatest gallantry every official report from the
regiment testifies, for every one of them makes special mention of ‘Our Gallant
Color Bearer.” ”

Every patriot connected with or interested in Upper Iowa University
should read the portion of Major Reed’s work, “University Recruits,” a copy
of which is found on the shelves of the college library. Few of the boys were
permitted to return to college after the war. It had taken too long and cost
too much. The plans of youth were changed. But they did their duty.
Let them never be forgotten, but rather let them be loved and respected more
and more as the years go by.

This sketch would not be faithful to the truth did it not record the work
and influence of the preceptress, Miss E. A. Sorin, during these years. She
was not only an educator, but a patriotic woman who did more than any other
person to encourage the boys in their loyal act of 1861. Her address to them
as they left for the field of conflict lingered in their hearts and minds a blessed
and sustaining influence and memory throughout the desperate struggle, keep-
ing them pure in their lives and true to their country.

Though the ranks of the student body were depleted by the war for the
time being, yet through the strenuous efforts of the indomitable President
Brush they were soon filled again and the school increased in numbers. I
insert a copy of the “Requirements and Prohibitions” as printed in the cata-
logue of 1860-1862 for the purpose of refreshing the memories of those who .
attended school those days and for the instruction of the youth of today.

REQUIREMENTS.

Registry of name.
Strict observance of study hours.
Promptness in the literary exercises.
Strict observance of the Sabbath.
Attendance at church as shall be directed.
Attendance at morning and evening prayers in the chapel.
Public exercises of the students, always by consent or direction of
the faculty.
8. The use of public rooms by consent of the faculty.
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9. Free access of any teacher to the rooms of students.
10. No instruction received out of the institution without the consent of
the faculty.

THINGS PROHIBITED.

1. Unpermitted association of gentlemen and ladies.

2. Games of chance; the use of intoxicating drinks.

3. Profane or obscene language.

4. Smoking or chewing tobacco on college premises.

5. Visiting on the Sabbath or in study hours.

6. Unnecessary noise in or about the institution.

7. Absence from examinations or other required exercises.
8. Leaving the village without permission.

9. Frequenting bar rooms or saloons.

10. The use of gunpowder on the premises.

11. Attendance at balls, etc. 4

In 1869 Rev. Charles N. Stowers, A. M., was elected president and
served for one year. The conference minutes for 1870 contain the following
report for Upper Iowa University for the year 1869-1870:

“We learn from the reports of the trustees that during the year this in-
stitution has been in a prosperous condition. Notwithstanding the financial
pressure, a large number of students were in attendance and received thorough
instruction from competent teachers. Improvements have been made in the
college building, rendering it more attractive and convenient. The institu-
tion is on a good financial basis, but needs additions to its endowment fund
to make it more efficient.

“Prof. B. W. McLean, as acting president, will have charge of the uni-
versity the ensuing year, and from his ability as an educator, we may con-
fidently expect great prosperity. The fall term opens September 14th, under
more favorable auspices than ever before.”

Prof. Byron W. McLean, Ph. D., an educator, was elected to the presi-
dency in 1870, in which position he remained for two years.

In the conference minutes for 1871 we find that the total number of stu-
dents for 1870-71 was one hundred eighty-three and that the financial defi-
ciency was one thousand five hundred dollars for 1869-70 and three hundred
. seventy-one dollars and .thirty cents for 1870-71. The minutes for 1872
show a deficiency for 1871-2 of nine hundred fifty dollars, also that the entire
indebtedness at that time was somewhat less than five thousand dollars.
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There was at this time a nominal endowment of thirty-five thousand dol-
lars in subscription notes, upon which there was over five thousand dollars
accrued interest unpaid.

Whether this proves that the signers of these notes were indifferent to
the obligations they had assumed and thus showed a degree of moral
obliquity, or that they had, in their generosity, assumed impossible obligations,
is not certain. But that of nearly all of these subscriptions neither interest
nor principal was ever paid is a matter of actual history. The panic of 1873
soon came and practically ended all payments on these notes and seemingly
all efforts to collect them. -

In 1872 Rev. Rhoderic Norton, A. M., became president and served for
one year. The year was one of prosperity and harmony. The debt was re-
duced to about two thousand six hundred dollars and the number of students
had increased to two hundred twenty-five for the academic year. "

The resignation of Rev. Norton in 1873 left the school without a presi-
dent. The board of trustees did not elect a successor at once, but left the
management of the institution in the hands of Rev. J. H. W. Bissell, A. M.,
who was at that time vice-president. His work was so successful that at the
annual meeting of the board of trustees in June, 1874, he was made president.
As such he served the college for twenty-five years, retiring in 1899. Doctor
Bissell's connection with the institution extended over a period of twenty-
seven vears, since he had served one year as professor of natural science and
one year as vice-president before becoming president. He was the right man
in the right place. A Christian gentleman, a profound scholar, a proficient
teacher, a strong executive, he still lives in the hearts of thousands of students
who came under his influence. No man could have been more faithful or
labored with greater earnestness. His unflagging self-sacrificing work is not
yet fully appreciated, but is being more and more justly estimated as the years
go by.

Only twenty-three persons had graduated before he became the executive
head of the school. During the period of his administration three hundred
four persons graduated from the College of Liberal Arts. During this period
the number of students had increased from two hundred twenty-five to four
hundred twelve for the academic year. It was a period of material growth
as well. Five buildings were erected during the time.

South Hall, a house for the young women of the school, was completed
in 1883, at a cost of eight thousand dollars; Science Hall, now used for the
recitation rooms and laboratories of the natural sciences, was completed in
1887, at a cost of eight thousand dollars; the Chapel, consisting of a basement
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for class work and auditorium with a seating capacity of six hundred, was
erected in 1890, at a cost of seven thousand five hundred dollars; the observa-
tory was built in 1886, and the gymnasium in 1889.

A splendid beginning on permanent endowment was also made during
the period of Doctor Bissell’s presidency. There are three distinct endow-
. ments, under the control of three distinct corporations. The principal of
each endowment is to remain intact forever, and the annual income from each
is to be used for the benefit of the college, as directed by the constitution of
each organization. These three organizations are, the Endowment Custod-
ians, representing the college itself, the Alumni Association and the Ladies’
Professorship Association.

The Ladies’ Professorship Association is an organization of women who
have been untiring to secure sufficient funds to endow a professorship in
Upper Iowa University. The first suggestion of the plan was made at a class
dinner during commencement week of 1873, by Dr. John C. Magee, who was
a member of the graduating class of that year. A constitution was adopted
and the organization effected in November, 1873. The purpose is set forth
in this constitution as follows: ““The object of this association is to endow a
chair to be known as the Lady Professorship of Upper Iowa University, the
professor to be chosen by the joint action of the association and the board of
trustees.” . The presidents of the association have been Mrs. A. N. Ingham,
Mrs. A. J. Duncan, Mrs. A. Hamlin, Mrs. J. W. Bissell, Mrs. G. P. Scobey
and Mrs. J. W. Dickman. During the first twenty-five years of its history the
fund reached nearly five thousand dollars.

In 1898 the constitution was so modified as to permit of increasing the
members of the association and thus extending its influence. At the regular
meeting in June, 1903, the organization entered upon a campaign to increase
its endowment to twenty thousand dollars by the time of the celebration of the
semi-centennial. The task seemed impossible, but the result proves that noth-
ing is impossible when women prosecute a righteous undertaking. At the
celebration in June, 1908, the ladies were able to report that their fund had
reached in cash and good subscription notes the sum of twenty-one thousand
two hundred eighty-six dollars and sixty-five cents.

At this hour of triumph and victory the association voted to name the
chair in honor of Dr. and Mrs. J. W. Bissell, a fitting recognition of and
memorial to their long and faithful service to the school.

About 1888 some of the graduates of the college began to talk about the
possibility of an alumni endowment. In 1889 the writer of this sketch dis-
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cussed the matter with Dr. J. W. Bissell and Prof. H. E. Hurd. They both
approved and encouraged the undertaking. The Alumni Association had ex-
isted for several years, but only as an organization for fellowship and fra-
ternity. A proposition to reorganize with a new constitution and the definite
purpose of creating an endowment was presented to the association in June,
1889, and adopted. Then followed a campaign among the alumni for sub-
scriptions to be valid and become interest-bearing from January I, 1895, pro-
vided the minimum sum of fifteen thousand dollars should be secured in ap-
proved promissory notes by June 20, 18g4. The condition was met with a sur-
plus of four hundred fifty dollars. It took a strenuous campaign. The
graduates for the most part were young and made their subscriptions wholly
on faith in the future and because of their loyalty to their Alma Mater. They
were hence necessarily small, only a few of them exceeding one hundred dol- -
lars. The loyalty of the graduates and the enthusiasm in the undertaking
were exemplified by the fact that many of the class of 1893, although only
juniors, came to the rescue and made their subscriptions in 1894 to validate
the endowment.

Since 1895 the association has constantly pushed the effort to increase
the endowment and as a result was able to report at the semi-centennial an
endowment, including the notes still unproductive, of thirty-five thousand dol-
lars. The writer of this sketch is glad to have had some part in bringing
this to pass. At its annual meeting in June, 1895, the association assumed
the salary of the head of the department of natural science for the ensuing
year, and has continued to pay in full the salary of one member of the faculty
since that time.

In 1890 the board of trustees, largely through the influence of President
J. W. Bissell and Prof. H. E. Hurd, set out to raise an endowment. By 1895
this had reached the sum of twenty-four thousand dollars. In addition to
this, Mr. and Mrs. L. C. Dudley had given the institution their farm of three
hundred seven acres in Fremont township with the condition of the payment
by Upper Iowa University of six hundred dollars annually during the period
of the natural lives of both Mr. and Mrs. Dudley. This farm was worth at
that time not less than twelve thousand dollars. In securing the endowment
Professor Hurd should have boundless credit for his assistance. He worked
with an energy and faith and perseverance seldom equaled anywhere. He
gave largely himself and this gave him power with others. _

Thus the history of progress during President Bissell’s administration is
a record of which he may well be proud.
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Rev. Guy Potter Benton, A. M., was elected to the presidency in 18g9.
Talented, educated, consecrated, he brought with him the enthusiasm of a
young man and wrought nobly for a period of three years, resigning to accept
the presidency of Miami University in 19o2. During this period the Hender-
son Library, the gift of Andrew Carnegie, was erected, at a cost of twenty-
six thousand five hundred fifty dollars, and the magnificent gift of twenty-five
thousand five hundred dollars by ex-Governor Larrabee was received. The
first came in March, 1901, through the efforts of the late Col. D. B. Hender-
son, who was then speaker of the House of Representatives, President Benton
urging the Speaker to the task. Mr. Henderson in reporting the gift stated
that Mr. Carnegie had said to him that “Any school that could do as much for
a Scotchman as Upper Iowa had done for him should certainly be helped.”

The second came in July, 19o1. Thus 1901 became a red-letter year for
the old college. _

Dr. Thomas J. Bassett, Ph. D., was elected president in 1902, serving
until 19o5. President Bassett was a man of keen scholarship, deep piety and
a long experience in college work. He gave the full measure of his power
to the building of the school. It was during his administration that the plans
were laid, the plowing begun and some of the seed sown for the campaign for
additional endowment to aggregate one hundred fifty thousand dollars by the
semi-centennial celebration. Negotiations were entered upon with Mr.
Carnegie, and Q. C. Babcock decided to make his splendid contribution of
twenty-five thousand dollars.

Rev. William Arnold Shanklin, D. D., became president in 1903, resign-
ing in 1909, to accept the presidency of Wesleyan University. The events of
his administration, and especially the signal triumph of the college in many
ways at the celebration in June, 1908, are still fresh in the minds of the citizens
of Fayette county. Doctor Shanklin’s personality, culture and refinement
attracted the attention of many to Upper Iowa and her president. He gave
his best efforts to the school. .

Rev. Richard Watson Cooper, D. D., was elected president in 1909 and
is just entering upon his work with great promise of success. He comes a
man of letters and educational power.

The following persons have served as presidents of the board of trustees:
H. S. Bronson, fourteen years; Levi Fuller, eighteen years; Elias Skinner,
two years; C. C. Parker, one year; J. Webb, two years; W. B. Lakin, one
year; R. W. Keeler, seven years; C. D. Foss, one year; S. B. Zeigler, three
years; Q. C. Babcock, six years.
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The most important institution in Fayette county is Upper Iowa Uni-
versity. She is entitled to the largest consideration, the best thoughts and
the most generous support that the people of the county are able to give. Over
ten thousand young people have received instruction and inspiration in her
halls. She stands for Christ and His Kingdom and the best possible in life

for man.



CHAPTER XV.

CHURCHES OF FAYETTE COUNTY.

The following articles have been contributed by members of the different
organizations mentioned, and contain much interesting and previously un-
written history. The preparation of these articles has involved much patient
and careful study and deep research. The editor and publishers are under
lasting obligations to the writers, Mr. and Mrs. John Owens, F. Y. Whitmore,
Rev. G. Blessin, Rev. J. L. Paine, Carl Evans, Hon. C. B. Hughes, Hon.
H. L. Adams, Hon. D. W. Clements, Mrs. Anna Holton, the public press of
the county, which has been uniformly courteous and helpful, and to many
other individuals who have given timely hints and suggestions.

The absence of special articles on some of the churches will be noticed,
and we refer the reader to the history of the town or township where such
are (or were) located, for such details as are now obtainable.

THE BAPTIST CHURCH.
By F. Y. Whitmore.

The first Baptist church west of the Mississippi river and north of the
Missouri state line was organized in 1834 at Long Creek, Iowa, a few miles
west of where the city of Burlington now stands, and is still in existence,
being now known as the Danville Baptist church. Elder John Logan and
Gardner Bartlett, missionaries to the state of Illinois, sent out by the American
Baptist Home Mission Society, assisted at the organization. Other churches
were formed, as settlements increased, and in 1842 Rev. Charles E. Brown
was sent by the Home Mission Society to the territory of Iowa, the Forks of
the Maquoketa in Jackson county being his destination, where he arrived on
May 26th of that year. At what time the first work was done by the Baptists
in Fayette county cannot now be told. Among the new settlers who located
in the county in the late forties and early fifties were doubtless a fair propor-
tion of this faith, and itinerant preachers of all denominations visited the vari-
ous settlements looking after the spiritual welfare of the people, and the
Baptists had their workers in the fields with the others.
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At the meeting of the Davenport association, held at Colesburg, in Dela-
ware county, September 16, 1853, the church at West Union was admitted,
and reported fifteen members. It was represented by the pastor, Rev. George
Scott, with David Dayton and David H. Hall.

In the state convention minutes of 1854, this church was reported as
having thirty-nine members. The Dubuque association was formed August
30, 1855, when the West Union church became a part of that organization,
and the churches in Fayette county remained in this association until July
14, 1860, when the Turkey River association was formed, the first meeting
being held at WWest Union in that year and four churches, Illyria, Oran, West-
field and West Union, were reported from this county.

This association. however, was never a strong body in numbers, although
at one time sixteen churches were reported. It continued as a separate organ-
ization until 1903, when it was again merged with the Dubuque association,
the first meeting of the combination being also held at West Union in 1906.

The first church organized in the county was at West Union; the date,
however, is unknown, as the records are lost. A copy of the proceedings of
the council of recognition is, however, in existence, which shows such council
to have been held at the home of Hon. Thomas Woodle, October 23, 1852,
the advisory council consisting of Elder Thomas Ritchie, of Stroudsburg,
Pennsylvania, and Elder Calvin D. Farnsworth, of Colesburg, Towa. FElder
Ritchie presided, and Friend Dayton was chosen clerk. The recognition
services were held on the day following, October 24th, the sermon was
preached by Reverend Farnsworth and the charge to the church given by
Reverend Ritchie. The organizing members were eleven in number, one of
whom, Lorenzo Dutton, is still living, although not now a member of the
church. The first pastor was Rev. J. Arnold, who was called in March, 1853,
to preach one-fourth of the time for six months. In September of the same
year, Rev. George Scott was engaged as pastor at a salary of one hundred
dollars. It was during his pastorate that their first church building was
erected, the pastor himself doing quite a portion of the work. This building
still stands as one of the old relics of early days, and is used as a shop and
for storage. It was built on lot 18, block 13, of the original plat of West
Union. Pastors subsequent to Mr. Scott were Rev. J. H. Parmlee in 1856,
Rev. Myron Newell in 1838, Rev. John Williams, Rev. F. Hill, Rev. J. M.
Wedgewood, Rev. D. S. Starr and Rev. R. F. Powers, from 1858 to 1869. A
new church building, commenced in 1867, was not completed until January,
1870. In March after the dedication, Rev. C. J. B. Jackson became pastor,
remaining two years, followed by Rev. Thomas Ure, who also served the
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church for two years. Rev. J. C. Douglas was pastor for six months in 1875.
Rev. M. H. Perry came in August, 1876, continuing until September, 1879.
The church was without a pastor in 1880, but early in 1881 Rev. A. C. Nichols
was called. He remained two years, during which time the debt contracted
in building the church was paid. The church had no pastors during the years
1883, 1884 and 18835. In February, 1886, Rev. F. Bower commenced his
work as pastor and continued until 1894, a period of eight years, being the
longest pastorate the church has ever had. \When his advanced vears com-
pelled him to give up the work, Rev. E. H. Gillet was called. He remained
until November, 1901, and was followed by Rev. W. G. Silke, who supplied
until the following August, during which time the audience room was re-
modeled,; other changes made in the church interior and ne\\"pe\\'s obtained.

Rev. W. R. Hill came directly from his school in Chicago in August,
1901, and remained as pastor until June, 1906. In the few months following
new windows were put in the church building, cement walks built and other
needed repairs and improvements were made. In January. 1907, Rev. Frank
Day commenced his work. He resigned during the summer of 1910 and Rev.
E. H. Gillet was recalled and is the present pastor. During the former pastorate
of Rev. Gillet work was done by him at Brainard, and as a result quite a num-
ber united with the church at West Union, and in 1898 a chapel was built,
which has since been used in connection with the work there as a part of the
West Union church.

A donation of five hundred dollars was made to the church by the late
Mrs. A. F. Stilwell, of Fayette, for a parsonage fund, which with its accumula-
tion was used as part payment for a small property bought for this purpose
in 1904.

In common with the other churches in West Union, this church received
a Bequest of one thousand five hundred dollars from the estate of the late
David Bell, part of which was used in payment for the parsonage, and part is
still held by the church in the original form of investment turned over to
the church by the administrator of his estate. In April, 1909, the lot adjoin-
ing the church building on the north was purchased, and during that year a
neat and commodious parsonage was built, thus giving the church a very de-
sirable property. Among those who have heen members and especially de-
serving of mention are Hon. Thomas Woodle, who died early in the history
of the church; S. W. Cole, one of the early superintendents of the schools of
the county and known over the state as a Sunday school worker, now living in
Detroit, Michigan; Deacon Benjamin Morse, at one time clerk of the court,
now residing at Wabash, Indiana; Deacon W. A. Whitney, now deceased,
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who bore the burden of church building, freely using his own credit when
needed for the purpose. The Sunday school superintendents since its organ-
ization in the new church in 1870 have been F. Y. Whitmore, B. Morse, Rev.
Thomas Ure, A. A. Johnson, P. D. Scofield, Alice B. Whitmore, F. B. Whit-
more, Rev. E. H. Gillet, F. W. Orchard, Prof. M. O. Perry and F. W. Kings-
bury. The present church officers are Elbert Helmer, Ed. J. Jacobs and John
D. Butler, trustees; J. W. Helmer, clerk; and F. Y. Whitmore, treasurer.

BAPTISTS IN ORAN TOWNSHIP.

On October 14, 1855, nine persons met at the home of Mr. Simon
Schultz, in Oran township, and organized themselves into a body for Christian
worship and service, calling themselves the Regular Baptist church of Oran
township. This church was duly recognized by a council, called for the pur-
pose a few weeks later. The membership of this church was represented
by well known families of the first settlers, as among them are found the
names of O’Neel, Ross, Roberts, Rairden, Schultz, Soper and others. They
were a stanch bedy of Christian men and women, and did good work for the
Master’s cause. As one has said, “This organization was a success and the
means of doing much good in the neighborhood. The membership grew in
numbers and at their meetings, held at first in private homes and afterward
in the school house, the attendance was often larger than the buildings would
hold.” Rev. Rowley, of Quasqueton, Rev. George Scott and Rev. Baldwin
were among the first preachers and pastors. In about 1858 the church be-
came divided on the subject of missions. A portion of the membership with-
drew and organized as a Missionary church with Rev. P. Colgrove as pastor,
who, however, died soon afterwards. Rev. Alva Bush supplied them for a
time, when the organization was moved to Fairbanks, where Rev. J. F. Rair-
den was ordained and served as pastor until sent as a missionary by the Home
Mission Society to do work in Missouri. The succeeding pastors of the old
organization were Rev. Charles N. Martin, Rev. J. H. Ross and Rev. James
Hubbard. Both organizations have become extinct or absorbed by the other
churches.

FAYETTE BAPTIST CHURCH.

In 1858 a church was organized at Westfield, and was afterward known
as the Fayette Baptist church, and had as successive pastors, Rev. Alva Bush,
who taught in the Upper Iowa University at the same time, Rev. J. B. Ward,
- Rev. A. Woodward, Rev. R. F. Powers, Rev. A. W. Hilton and Rev. M. H.
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Perry. Constant removals reduced the numbers and the organization was
disbanded in the early eighties. In the same year, 1858, a church was organ-
ized at Illyria, growing out of a flourishing Sunday school held in the neigh-
borhood, continuing about ten years with occasional preaching services, but
with no regular pastor. It never was a strong body, and after the removal
of a majority of the members, those remaining were granted letters of dis-
missal to join elsewhere. In 1860 or 1861 a small church was organized at
Eden. It reported to the Cedar Valley association in 1861 with Rev. S.
Sherman as pastor and Whitman Smith, clerk. Later pastors were Rev. J.
M. Wedgewood and Rev. G. W. Goodrich. In 1877 Rev. L. Ellingswood
was reported as pastor, but he removed soon after and no further report of the
organization was made.

ELGIN GERMAN BAPTIST CHURCH.

The German Baptist church at Elgin has a history peculiar to itself, and
is a striking illustration of development along scriptural lines, coming to
those who are seeking for light and believe in the word of God as the foun-
tain of truth. In the fifties a number of families emigrated from Switzerland
and settled in the vicinity of Elgin, most of whom had been members of the
Reformed church in their native country. Surrounding them here, and speak-
ing the German tongue, were Lutherans, Dunkards and those of no religious
faith, but no Baptists. '

During the sixties several congregational ministers, among others the
Rev. Henry Hess, preached among them and organized a church of this de-
nomination, and among the members were Rudolph Miller and wife, John F.
Miller, Sr., and Hon. C. Miller. This church, however, was dissolved in the
latter part of the sixties. After this dissolution, the parties named with C.
Freiberghaus, Sr., and wife, with John Hiltbrunner and wife, these last two
families having been members of the Free church in Switzerland, called Rev.
Jacob Baumann to preach for them. He was an ordained minister of the
Free church of Switzerland, and had been preaching with marked success
since coming to this country in 1864, and he continued his labors with them
until 1879, coming from his farm, twelve miles distant, every other Sunday,
receiving for his services no other compensation than that which comes from
a duty performed to his fellow men. His faithful labors were blessed in the
conversion of many souls.

In 1873, Hon. C. Miller, J. F. Miller, Sr., C. Freiberghaus and wife,
John Hiltbrunner and wife, after a careful study of the word of God, became
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convinced that it taught the baptism of believers only, and this by immersion,
and requested of Rev. Baumann that he should baptize them, which he did.
These were soon brought in contact with the German Baptist church at Musca-
tine, whose pastor, Rev. J. Meyer, was often called to assist Rev. Baumann
in his work. They also organized a Sunday school with Hon. C. Miller as
superintendent. He served in this capacity about twenty-five years, when he
was relieved at his own request. In 1900, Hans Kaiser, the present efficient
superintendent, was chosen his successor. This school has always done most
excellent work. Early in 1879, the number of baptized believers having in-
creased to forty, were organized as the First German Baptist church of Elgin,
Towa, and incorporated as such under the laws of Iowa. Hon. C. Miller was
elected as first deacon, and still serves in that position. On February 2, 1879,
Rev. J. F. Hoefflin became pastor. He served until 1881. During his pastor-
ate the membership increased to fifty-five, and a parsonage was built. He.
was followed by Rev. William - Shunke, who. was pastor for thirteen years,
until 18¢4. During this time one hundred five were added to the church.
His successor was Rev. R. J. Hack, from 1894 until 1go2. Under his leader-
ship one hundred sixteen were received into the church. The present fine
church building was erected, the parsonage enlarged and all branches of the
work improved. Rev. C. F. Stoeckman became pastor of the church in 1902,
giving the church faithful service until 1907, when he was called to the First
German church in St. Paul and Rev. J. G. Draevel took up the work which
he is carrying on very successfully at the present time. The work of all these
ministers, ably assisted by a united church, has been a great blessing in the
community. There have been many removals, but the membership is now
over two hundred, and the property is valued at eighteen thousand dollars.
It engages in all the work of an active church, having besides its Sunday
school, a Baptist Young Peoples’ Union of one hundred members, with J. F.
Miller, Jr., as president, a Woman’s Mission Society, which holds monthly
meetings presided over by Mrs. C. L. Freiberghaus. The church clerks have
been Frederick Muehlethaler, Melchoir Luchsinger and Carl Hackman.

Music is furnished in the different meetings by a choir and band.

This church is connected with the German Baptist conference of Iowa,
which is doing a grand work among the German-speaking population of the
state.

EXTINCT CHURCHES.

A church was organized in 1870 at Taylorsville by Rev. F. Kidder, who
served as pastor. Its existence, however, was a short one.
Clermont church was organized in 1875 by Rev. J. C. Douglas and F. Y.
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Whitmore. Its pastors were Rev. J. B. Edmondson and Rev. M. H. Perry.
Its existence was of brief duration, several of the active members soon mov-
ing to other parts. ’

The church at Randalia was organized by Rev. M. H. Perry in 1878, and
the recognition council was composed of Rev. M. H. Perry, Rev. F. Kidder
and F. Y. Whitmore. Its pastors were Rev. M. H. Perry and Rev. J. O.
Dean. It later disbanded and letters of dismissal were given to the members
remaining.

In 1865, a few persons met at the home. of Mr. Charles Hanson, in
Jefferson township, and after a season of singing and prayer, it was decided
to organize for Sunday school and other Christian work, and out of this grew
a Baptist church which existed for several years and had as pastors Rev. Al
W. Hilton, Rev. Sherman, Rev. Sprague, Rev. R. H. Shafto, Rev. J. O. Dean,
Rev. L. Ellingwood and perhaps others. This organization, however, has
not reported for several years.

FREE BAPTIST CHURCH, OELWEIN.

On March 27, 1875, the Free Baptist church of Oelwein was organized
with eight charter members. The organization was effected in a small school
house situated a short distance west of where the Chicago Great Western sta-
tion now stands. At a meeting held in the following month, Rev. C. B.
Messer was engaged as pastor. During the first year, the membership was
increased to thirty-four and a church building was erected costing one thou-
sand two hundred dollars, which they continued to occupy until 1892 when
the property was sold and a new church and parsonage combined was built on
the corner of First avenue, East and First street north, which, however, was
destroyed by fire on December 1, 1909, and arrangements are now made-for
a fine, new, brick structure which, it is expected, will be completed during the
year 1910. As far as can be learned, the church has had eighteen pastors,
the present one, Rev. J. J. Tatum, beginning his labors in 19go8. It has al-
ways been an influential Christian body and has done and is still doing most
excellent work for the Master in the community.

There was also a Free Baptist church organized in an early day at the
home of W. T. Wade in Banks township but no records are obtainable re-
garding it.

BAPTISTS OF JEFFERSON TOWNSHIP.
A Primitive Baptist church with twelve members was organized in Jeffer-

son township in 1854, Rev. Guthrie coming from Linn county to assist in
the organization. Rev. J. B. Burch was pastor for many years, and it still has
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an existence with occasional preaching services. This body also did work for
several years in different parts of the county.

In this history no account has been taken of itinerant and evangelistic
work done by Rev. P. Colgrove, Rev. F. Kidder, Rev. A. W. Hilton and others,
which has been of great value to the general Christian work in the county.
Neither should the estimate of good done be measured by this fact that weak
church organizations have fallen by the way. Out of the ranks of the mem-
bers and among those who have lived in the county have come many workers
in other fields who have done and are now doing valiant services for the
Kingdom. Among them, Rev. Alva Bush, a pioneer settler in Putnam town-
ship, who after leaving this county established and for many years conducted
the Cedar Valley Seminary, now one of the recognized schools of the state;
Col. Alonzo Abernethy, at one time state superintendent of publie instruction,
afterward principal of Cedar Valley Seminary and for many years on the
board of regents of the State University; Rev. N. B. Rairden, for some years
general secretary of the Jowa Baptist State convention and afterward district
secretary of the American Baptist Home Mission Society for several states;
Rev. J. E. Clough, the most noted of modern foreign missionaries, whose suc-
cess among the Telegus of India was the marvel of the nineteenth century,
and Dr. F. B. Whitmore, now resident secretary of the Young Men’s Chris-
tian Association at Nanking, China; besides many others whose work has
been in less prominent fields.

BAPTIST CHURCH AT FAYETTE.

On February 6, 1858, several persons of the Baptist persuasion met at
the house of M. H. Root, in the south part of Fayette, and determined to
organize a Baptist church. Elijah Norton and J. B. Kingsbury were appoint-
ed a committee to prepare articles of faith and a church covenant under which
they might organize, and agreed to meet one week later at the house of C. C.
West to effect the organization. Among its charter members and those com-
ing in immediately thereafter were Elijah Norton and Sabra, his wife, J. B.
Kingsbury and Hannah, his wife, M. H. Root, Mrs. C. C. West, Mrs. A. Still-
well, Mrs. John Grannis, William Bonine and Mary his wife, E. B. Nichols
and wife, Rice Kidder and wife, Jonathan Kidder and wife, H. D. and Homer
E. Norton. .

Elijah Norton was elected deacon and J. B. Kingsbury, clerk and treas-
urer. The formal recognition of this as an independent church was made
May 16, 1857. Rev. George Scott, of Strawberry Point, rendered efficient
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service in establishing the church and continued to assist and preach occasion-
ally until October, 1859, when Rev. Alva Bush was installed as pastor. Dur-
ing his stay the church increased in numbers and usefulness, his able and
efficient ministrations leading it to its high-water mark of prosperity. After
about two years’ service he was called to the principalship of Cedar Valley
Seminary, in which he spent the remainder of his faithful life.

Afterwards Rev. J. A. Ward, living near Strawberry Point, served the
church for several years, but not as resident pastor; later, during short periods
Revs. Woodard, Hilton, Bowers and Perry held regular preaching appoint-
ments, reaching to about the year 1876. Up to that time covenant meetings
were held regularly on alternate Saturday afternoons, but deaths and removals
had then so reduced the membership that they ceased to be active, and on
April 2, 1881, they voted to disband, most of those remaining placing their
membership with the Baptist church at West Union.

THE ROMAN CATHOLIC CHURCH IN FAYETTE COUNTY.
By Mr. and Mrs. John Owens

[Mr. Owens has always been recognized as one of the most active and
useful members of this great religious organization, and has been a promoter
of its welfare in this county for more than half a century. He witnessed
the building of nearly all the churches in the county, and was a liberal con-
tributor thereto. He was a member of the building committee that con-
structed the church in West Union, and bore his full share in all church
expenses, including the entertainment of priests and others at his home until
a parish house was secured. In weakness and physical distress, he has super-
vised the construction of this history, which involved much writing of letters
and comparing of notes with other old settlers. His estimable wife has been
equally interested and zealous, and has borne no small part in the compilation
and writing of the article which follows. She is the daughter of one of the
pioneer Catholics at Fayette at whose parental home the early services of the
church were held. —EDITOR. ]

THE CHURCH AT WAUCOMA.

The first Catholic church was built three and one-half miles west of Wau-
coma and called St. Rose. It was built of stone, later rebuilt of wood and

(19)
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still stands in good condition at present. A commodious priest’s house was
also built at about the same time. The church was commenced in 1855, and
completed in 1856. There was no resident priest at that time.

The first resident priest was Rev. Father McCullough. He was followed
by Rev, Father McGuinness, Rev. Father Harrison, Rev. Father Farley, Rev.
Father Lynch, Rev. Father Quirk, Rev. Father McMahan, Rev. Father Hen-
nessy, Rev. Father O’Reilly and Rev. Father Hogan, who is the present pas-
tor. As this parish grew older and larger, and more Catholics took up their
residence in the town of Waucoma, it became necessary to divide the parish,
and in the year 1899 a fine new church was built in Waucoma, followed soon
after by a modern priest’s house, all of which was built by Father Hogan, who
is still the pastor, and who is beloved and respected by all.

ST. LUCAS GERMAN CATHOLIC CHURCH.

In 18355 the German Catholics in St. Lucas turned their thoughts toward
building a church. About the middle of May they- raised the logs and there
they stood until September the same year. In the meantime they got a
letter from Bishop Matthew Loras to get the church built and name it St.
Lucas. All went to work, and the building was ready by October 18th, same
vear. Rev. Father Laurient read the first mass in this little church, which
was built of hewed white oak logs. In 1858 there was a frame addition built
to it. In 1859 they purchased the first bell and had mass every third” Sun-
day in the month. The priest who attended them came from Festina. In
the year 1870 the first priest took up his residence in St. Lucas. His name
was Rev. Schulte. He at once commenced to build the new brick church,
forty by sixty feet and twenty-four feet high. When the church was com-
pleted he went to New Vienna. In 1871 Father Frey came and he at once
commenced to build the first parochial school. At present there are about
two hundred and fifty children taught by the St. Francis Sisters. In 1882
Rev. Frey was removed and Father Boeding was sent instead. In 1883 he
built an addition to the brick church. It is claimed by a good many people
that this is the nicest church property in the county. Father Boeding enjoys
the pleasure of being the pastor at the present time.

CLERMONT CATHOLIC CHURCH.

In the year 1855 the Catholics of Clermont built a small log church about
five miles north of the town. Mass was celebrated occasionally by Rev. Father
McCullough, from Waucoma, and Father De Kelley (a nephew of Bishop



FAYETTE COUNTY, IOWA. 29I

Loras) of Dubuque. In 1836 the little log church was abandoned and was
used for a school house until destroyed by fire in 1857. In the meantime mass
was celebrated in the home of Peter Cummings, in the town of Clermont, until
a new church was built under the supervision of Father Nagle, of McGregor.
The ground was purchased from Peter Cummings and as a token of regard
for him Father Nagle had the church called St. Peter’s. Father Nagle con-
tinued to have charge of the church for twelve years. Then Rev. Quigley,
of Elkader, took charge of it for about a year, when Rev. J. J. Smith was
appointed resident pastor and started to build a parsonage, but was removed
to Emmetsburg before the house was completed. Rev. M. O’Carroll suc-
ceeded Father Smith in December, 1872, and finished building the house at
a cost of five thousand dollars. He remained five years, when Rev. E.
O’Sullivan took charge, the parish being in a flourishing condition. A
new and up-to-date church was talked of and a committee was appointed to
solicit funds, the church to cost about eighteen thousand dollars. Rev. John
Hackett took charge of the parish just as the work of building the church
was begun. The church was finished and dedicated in 1882. Father Mur-
phy and Father Brennan were two young priests who attended this parish,
each a short time, then were taken sick and died. Rev Bernard Coyle was
pastor from 1892 to 18g7. He was succeeded by Rev. Charles McCabe,
who remained five years. Then came the present pastor, Rev. Father Far-
relly, who is a young man who has endeared himself to all people regardless
of religious belief. The first resident priest, Father J. J. Smith, is still
living at Emmetsburg, Jowa. Ex-Governor William Larrabee has always
been a generous donor, giving freely to all their buildings, also giving a fine
bell and an elegant pipe organ.

WEST UNION CATHOLIC CHURCH.

The West Union Catholic church was built in 1870. The first mass was
celebrated in it November 13th of that year. Father Harrison, of Waucoma,
was the priest who attended at that time. Prior to this mass was celebrated
in private houses, occasionally by Father O’'Byrne, of Elkader, Father McCul-
lough, of Waucoma, Father Nagle, of McGregor, and Father Quigley, of
Elkader. It was next attended by Rev. J. J. Smith, of Clermont, who was
succeeded by Rev. M. O. Carroll, who remained five years, but resided in
Clermont. After his removal Rev. E. O’Sullivan, of Clermont, took charge for
a short time. As the parish was thought to be in a flourishing condition. and
sufficiently able to have a resident priest, they asked for one and Rev. Father
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McMahan came and made his home with John Owens. He was succeeded by
Rev. Father Burns, who immediately purchaséd a house and in about a year
built an addition to it and that is the residence of the pastor at the present
time. He was succeeded by Father Cooney who remained but a short time
and was followed by Rev. James Mulligan, who remained their beloved pastor
for sixteen years. He was succeeded by Rev. Father Regan, a young man
who commands the esteem and respect of all who know him and is the pastor
at the present time.
THE WADENA CHURCH.

In 1870 a Catholic church was built in Wadena. Father Quigley, of
Elkader, was the priest attending at the time the church was being built.
This church was attended by the priests who resided at Elkader until Father
McMahan came to West Union to reside and he then took charge of the
church. The latter was succeeded by Father Mulligan, of West Union. Dur-
ing this time a change was made and the resident pastor of Volga City took
charge of the church at Wadena. In 1909 a fine new brick church was built.
It was dedicated September 8th of the same year. - Father Heatherton, of
Volga City, is the beloved pastor at the present time.

FAYETTE CATHOLIC CHURCH.

The Catholic church was built in Fayette in 1878. Prior to that time
mass was celebrated in private houses and in the town hall. Father Burns,
now pastor at Rockwell, Iowa, was resident pastor at West Union, and at-
tended the little parish of Fayette. He took hold and with zeal and hard work,
both the priest and the people uniting their energies, they succeeded in build-
ing the present commodious church. It is always attended by the pastor
from West Union, Father Regan being the present pastor there.

OELWEIN CATHOLIC CHURCH.

The first Catholic church was built in Oelwein in 1876, and was attended
by a priest from Fairbanks. On October 23, 1890, Father P. S. O’Connor
was made resident pastor.: In the following year he built a new church
seventy-five by thirty-six feet in size at a cost of eight thousand dollars. This
is now entirely inadequate to accommodate the congregation, and they ‘are
building a new church at a cost of sixty thousand dollars to be ready for oc-
cupancy in November, 1910. The dimensions are one hundred and thirty-five
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feet by sixty-six feet, Gothic style of architecture. The material used in
building is St. Louis pressed brick, trimmed with Bedford stone and finished
in oak. Marble altars and all interior furniture to match. It will seat
twelve hundred persons. The parochial school was built in 1904, a three-
story building of pressed brick, trimmed in stone, with steam heat and all
modern sanitary improvements. The size of the building is seventy-one
by fifty feet and cost twenty-seven thousand dollars. From 18go to the
present time Father O’Connor has been the resident pastor. It has been his
privilege and pleasure to watch the growth of his congregation all these years,
and to work unceasingly for all these modern new buildings of such magnif-
icent designs. It is hoped he may live many years to enjoy his new church
which is now under construction, and which is costing him much anxiety and
hard work.
WESTGATE CATHOLIC CHURCH.

The Westgate church was built in the year 1387. The first pastor was
Father Hogan, followed by Father Brogan, who was succeeded by Father
‘Malloy ; the last and present pastor is Father Murphy. Westgate has never
had a resident pastor. ~All of the above named priests have resided in Sumner,
Bremer county, Iowa.

THE HAWXKEYE CHURCH.

The Catholic church in Hawkeye was built in 1893. Rev. James Mulli-
- gan, the pastor of West Union church, was the priest who superintended the
building of the church and was its first pastor. He was suceeded by Father
Regan, who is the present pastor; he also resides in West Union.

PROTESTANT EPISCOPAL CHURCH, FAYETTE.

The Protestant Episcopal church was organized early in 1864. Dr. D.
Alexander, Thomas Fowells and others were active in the enterprise and on
July 12th of that year A. N. Goodrich executed a deed of lots 8 and 9, block
3, of Fayette, to the “wardens and vestrymen of St. Paul's parish of Fayette
county and state of Towa,” Mr. Goodrich donating one of the lots and re-
ceiving thirty dollars for the other. Mr. Fowells and Mr. Goodrich were
vestrymen; the names of the wardens we have been unable to ascertain.
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Building operations were at once commenced and the structure, not large but
inviting, was enclosed and ready for occupancy in the fall. Jay Cooke, of
Philadelphia, presented the church with a bell of most beautiful tone, and
Rev. Jacob Rambo, a returned missionary, became rector, and a very creditable
congregation was gathered. He was succeeded at the end of two years by
Rev. Mr. Allen, who in turn was followed by Rev. Sidney Smith. Services
twice a month were held by Rev. Mr. Strong, of Davenport, and others, but
no permanent rector was secured. For some years there was no service, and
at length, by direction of the Bishop of Iowa, the building was removed to
Oelwein and the lots were sold July 3, 1892, to John Graf.

CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH OF FAYETTE.

By Rev. J. L. Paine.

The First Congregational church of Fayette was organized December 1,
1853, a most bitterly cold day, at the home of M. N. Sykes, about two and a
half miles southwest of town. Mr. Sykes then lived in a log house, but later
built a commodious brick residence, which for many years was the home of J.
B. Rogers. It was nearly a mile west of ““The Old Wilcox Place,” where the
Methodist church was organized nearly six years before. Nine persons com-
posed the gathering : three ordained ministers, Revs. S. D. Helms, J. Sampson
and R. Ramsey, who constituted the council to recognize the infant church,
and six persons who were to constitute its membership, viz.: M. N. Sykes,
Diana Sykes, B. N. Johnson, O. S. Campbell, Mrs. Campbell and Lucretia
Currier. M. N. Sykes and wife, on their first arrival in the vicinity, had
united temporarily with the Methodists (June 14, 1853), desiring, as he ex-
pressed it, “a place to board until the Congregationalists could set up
housekeeping.” Mr. Sykes, who was the moving spirit of the church, was a
small. sparefaced man, eminently spiritual in his nature, just and generous in
his everyday life, a veritable “pattern of piety” to all the world.

After the articles of faith were read, they were duly signed and Mr.
Helms was engaged as pastor for one year, services to be at the Sykes home
and Mr. Helms devoting half his time. At the end of the year services were
moved to the stone school house nearly a mile west, at the township corners,
and Mr. Helms served the church two years longer. The revival spirit of
1857-8 reached their church and community and resulted in accessions to the
membership, including Charles Hoyt by letter, A. M. Currier and others on
profession of faith. In 1858 services were moved to Fayette and were held
at first in the historic “old log school house,” later to the school room on
Main street and thence to the one on Water street.
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Following the three years’ pastorate of Mr. Helms, Rev. Sanford Halbert
was employed for one year, and again Mr. Helms, who resided at Lima, where
a Congregationalist church had been formed in 1857, supplied the pulpit,
dividing his time between Lima, Fayette and West Union, though services
after a time became somewhat irregular, the Civil war absorbing general at-
tention. In the spring of 1863 Rev. Thomas N. Skinner, from St. Lawrence
county, New York, came as pastor and remained about a 'year and a half,
when Rev. J. J. Hill, one of the famous “Iowa Band” formed at Andover
Theological Seminary in 1843, was secured and commenced work November
1, 1864. In the spring of 1865 a Sunday school was organized in connection
with the Baptists and continued thus until 1871, when it was reorganized as a
Congregational school and has continued so since. In the fall of 1863 ser-
vices were moved to the brick hall over the Fox furniture store, and the next
spring to a room in the three-story building on Water street, for some years
the home of T. D. Peterman. After the erection of the brick school house
services were held there.

During Mr. Hill's pastorate and for some time following the church
register suffered greatly by removals. Mr. Sykes went to Independence, and
in the multiplied migrations following the close of the war the church found
itself a loser. A natural feeling of depression prevailed, and for nearly two
years they were without a regular pastor. In October, 1868, Rev. J. T. Clos-
son was secured at a salary of six hundred dollars, one-half of which was paid
by the Home Missionary Society. March 7, 1869, H. W. Waterbury and
wife, and their son, S. E. Waterbury, and wife, were added to the church
list and proved of great help, especially in its financial interests. Objections
were being made to using the school house as a place for religious services,
and the serious question of a place to meet was confronting them. Mr.
Waterbury said, “Let us build.” On May 22d, articles of incorporation were
adopted, with Charles Hoyt, H. W. Waterbury and F. M. Aylsworth as trus-
tees, and a subscription paper started. On June 2oth it was decided to pro-
ceed at once with the building, a location having already been secured. The
church was dedicated October 9, 1870, Rev. O. Guernsey preaching the ser-
mon. Mr. Closson had closed his pastorate in July preceding. After the
church was opened S. D. Helms and W. B. Williams held brief pastorates.

So far as known, all who were active in founding and firmly planting this
early church have passed over, except Deacon F. M. Aylsworth, who, with
shadows still lengthening, is patiently waiting his translation. Mrs. Winslow
Stearns, who was a charter member of the Congregational church at Lima in
1857, and previously a member at West Union, is also a communicant here,



296 FAYETTE COUNTY, IOWA.

and one of the few links connecting the present with the strenuous work of
half a century ago.

On November 1, 1871, Rev. W. S. Potwin commenced a very successful
pastorate of two years and a half. He is still living, a resident of Independ-
ence, Jowa. Mr. Potwin was followed in succession by E. C. Moulton, Wil-
liam Leavett, J. R. Barnes, L. W. Winslow, N. W. Scarrett, Robert Mumby,
J. E. Snowden, D. O. Bean, Herbert J. Wykoff, Benjamin St. John, W. B.
Klose, Frank W. Weatherwax, and A. J. Benton, the present incumbent.

The church building was remodeled in 1895 under the superintendence
of Rev. J. E. Snowden, at which time the additions on both-the north and
south were built, also the vestibule and belfry, making it a perfect gem of a
church. About ten years ago a fine parsonage was purchased from G. W.
Chaffin, he donating one thousand dollars thereto on which he received
an annuity during life. His recent death frees the church from all financial
indebtedness.

THE LUTHERAN CHURCH IN FAYETTE COUNTY.

By Rev. G. Blessin.

In order that the reader might more readily understand the following
lines a brief retrospect will be needed first of all.

- The Lutheran church took its beginning with the Apostolic age and it
will stand as long as it continues to remain faithful to the God it preaches and
teaches. It is true that the outward form of the church, with the name
“Lutheran,” which, like the word “Protestant,” was originally a spite name,
found its existence as such in the time of the Reformation in the fourteenth
century. At the head of this world movement were Luther, Zwingli, Calvin
and others of equal fame, and it was Luther’s work especially which not only
put life into the very dry bones of a decaying Romanism, but which also com-
pletely changed the map of mere intellect and put the learning of the world
on a higher plane than it had ever been on before.

The northern part of Europe, with Germany, Sweden, Norway and
Denmark, and a part of Holland, soon became loyal to the confessions of
Lutheranism. In the meantime explorations of great importance were be-
ing made in America, which had just been discovered, and which was even
now regarded a boon and a haven of rest for the peoples of Europe, depressed
as they were politically and religiously. Here, thought they, we will at last
find freedom.

In the South the Spanish banner in its greed for gold had found an in-
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glorious grave. The North, however, called a different class of men, who
were brave, honest, eager for other battles than those of powder, sword and
gun. These were men and women of various creeds and confessions, and
among them were also Lutherans.

The pioneers in Lutheranism in America came from Holland, settling
as early as 1643 in and around the city of New York. The Swedes were
the next to come, and while the Holland Dutch did not come so much for
the purpose of seeking religious freedom and organizing congregations, the
Swedes came with that very object in view, and thus are “de facto” the
founders and organizers of the first Lutheran organizations in this country.

It might be well to mention at this time that America had been discovered
about two hundred years before German immigration began. Doctor Jacobs
says that probably the entire number of Germans coming to this country
in the eighteenth century might be placed upon an ordinary steamship of the
present time. It was William Penn, that firm, unquaking Quaker and phil-
anthropist of his day, who first instigated German immigration. This im-
migration began in 1708, going forward in a decided crescendo until recent
times, when it took a decided decrescendo attitude, due perhaps to more en-
lightened conditions throughout the German empire, and it may be that the
decided increase in Russian and Italian immigration has also had an influence
in stemming the German flow.

The early immigrants were nourished in faith and creed and church by
the mother church abroad, who not only saw her vigorous child go into a self-
sustaining, glorious development, but who also did what she could for this
child’s spiritual welfare. That this work was well done the following figures
will prove: '

1638, one minister, one congregation; 1823, one hundred and seventy-
five ministers, seven hundred congregations; 1850, five hundred and seventy-
five ministers, fifteen hundred congregations; 1900, six thousand seven hun-
dred and ten ministers, eleven thousand one hundred and twenty-three con-
gregations; 1909, eight thousand, five hundred ministers, fourteen thousand
congregations.

In the city of New York the Lutheran church is the second largest in
number. In point of growth the church.has in the last three years been first,
having a higher percentage of increase than any other, and this truly is a
hopeful sign, when we can ask, not “How big is your garden,” but, “How

does your garden grow?” The one points to stagnation and an end of
 things, the other looks forward to endless growth and to a glorious immensity.

The Lutheran church is not a church of a language. Originally German,
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it now seems to thrive in the English, and especially in Scandinavian tongues,
in Icelandish and.Slav, a sort of return of the pentecostal condition. North,
South, East and West are all telling the same story of thrift and growth.
Churches and church bodies, conferences, synods are at work blasting and
forging. God only knows what blessings have been wrought through the
channels of this church to the individual, to the country, to the state and
county in the everlasting fight for the ideal. Then, too, it seems that the
Lutheran church will be a further factor in the varied development of our
county. Seeing that it thrives in any language, under- any form of church
or political government, it will undoubtedly have 4 future on our home soil.
Looking over the map of F ayette county, I might say that there are Luther-
ans living in every township, and that there are Lutheran congregations in
ten of the townships, from which centers other smaller flocks are served.

Dover, Windsor, Bethel, Illyria, Harlan, Fremont, Jefferson, Oran and
Fairbanks have such church centers. Though the ideal has not been attained
by any of these churches, their influence as centers of the moral and the up-
lifting life should not be underestimated. They are sowing the seed faith-
fully and carefully, and there is a hope that in due season, with rain and sun-
shine, the good seed will bring forth fruit for the temporal and eternal welfare
of all concerned.

In 1854 the German Lutheran synod of Iowa was founded at St. Sebald,
Iowa, near Strawberry Point, and consisted then of four ministers and five
congregations. The missionary zeal of these men did not find its whole rest
in their respective charges, but it went out to hunt up the brethren of their
confessions everywhere. So they visited on their journeys of missionary zeal
from Dubuque to St. Sebald and the surrounding country. Rev. G. Gross- .
man, Rev. I. Deindoerfer, S. and G. Fritschel, all men of blessed memory,
came to Fayette county before any congregations had been formed, minister-
ing with word and sacrament to a flock that was shepherdless. Their work
was not in vain, and today we bow our heads at their mention, knowing how
indelibly their names are linked to the history of the Lutheran church in
Fayette county and to that of our whole blessed country.

The Germans coming to this country in the early fifties were mostly
Lutherans by birth. While the Germans of the Roman Catholic faith set-
tled by themselves in Auburn and Eden townships, the Lutherans settled
in various localities. The first Lutheran congregation founded in the county
is the Zion’s congregation in Windsor township, founded in 1859. Connected
with this first organization was the church in Dover township, at Eldorado,
which was, however, not self-sustaining until later.
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The first pastor lived in a log cabin which stood in the place of the present
~ parsonage of the Windsor congregation, experiencing all the hardships of a
pioneer life. About the same time a small congregation came into existence
at Waucoma, which was served by the Rev. I. Deindoerfer, who shortly after
removed to the larger and more promising charge in Windsor. He cared for
the weak and struggling congregations at Eldorado, West Union, Waucoma
and Fort Atkinson, and deserves the name of Fayette county’s Nestor of
Lutheranism. In 1861 he was called to serve a Lutheran congregation at
Madison, Wisconsin. The various congregations unserved by his going now
separated and called their own ministers. Eldorado and Fort Atkinson called
the Rev. I. Meyer, while Windsor and West Union united in a call to the
Rev. T. Vogel. Through the efforts of Rev. C. Ide the congregations at
Richfield (1880), Wadena (1880), Hawkeye and Oelwein were founded.
From Eldorado the congregations of Calmar and Ossian, not in this county,
were founded and are thus served to this day.

In 1876 the Rev. W. Adix and a minister from Bremer county founded
the Lutheran Hoffnungs Gemeinde at Westgate, which has since been divided
into two parishes, which are served by the Rev. Seifkes and the Rev. Ullmann.
In Oelwein and in Hawkeye, both flourishing Fayette county towns, there
are prosperous Lutheran churches which possess substantial church and pa-
rochial school buildings.

A list of churches in Fayette county with their ministers follows:

Membership

I910.
Oelwein, Rev. T. ZIMMerman .. .......c..eeeeeeoencnneens 500
Windsor, Rev. Ph. Ackermann .................ooitnnn 230
Eldorado, Rev. G. Blessin.......... ..o 452
Wadena, Rev. F. Rembold............ ... oot 28
Maynard, Rev. F. Tiede........ ..., 230
Richfield, Rev. O. Staehling .......... ..., 323
Westgate, Rev. S. Siefkes ................ e 223
Westgate, Rev. Ullmann ......... ... 335
Hawkeye, Rev. L. Westenberger ..............ccnnhennn. 426
Fairbanks, Rev. A. Rueber......... .. ...t 125
Putnam and Scott townships, Rev. G. Graf................ 8o
Arlington, Rev. H. Faehr.......... ...t 68
Sumner, resp. the western townships, Rev. H. Bredow....... 150
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These congregations are all self-sustaining, loyally supporting their res-
pective pastorates and home fields and contributing largely to all benevolent
undertakings, especially to home and foreign missions.

With all acknowledgement of weakness and shortcomings, the Lutheran
church of Fayette county may pride itself that, with God’s guidance and care,
it has been a source of blessing and spiritual uplift to the people of the county.
This religious force has come to stay. The Lutheran church is in its second,
aye, third generation of native-born Americans, but the faith of the fathers
is living still, and the future remains with us if we will but embrace it.

The church that looks after the religious training of its young will have
the future, and because the Lutheran church has done this and hopes further
to do so, it feels a surety in its principles and in its confessions. Here is the
secret of her success. Languages may die, generations may come and go,
amalgamation may continue, but the Lutheran church will stand, because its
scopes are not limited to a nation. They are international. We are not
battling against the inevitable, but for the pure doctrine in accordance with
Scripture. ‘

May the dear Lutheran church of this, our dear county, grow with all
others and remain steadfast in the great evangelical war-cry and anthem of
peace, “Christ for us, and we with Him.”

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.
By Hon. C. B. Hughes.

Coming from the University of Oxford, England, about the middle of
the eighteenth century, the two Wesleys, stirred by intense religious enthusi-
asm, and guided by the practical application of the principles of Christianity,
launched into the unseen seas of the future a freighted ship of religious thought
and organization and action that sent an ever-widening circle of waves and
ripples out over the surface of the times, better known perhaps as the “Spirit
of Methodism.” And as those restless ripples ran on and on, lapping and
breaking on distant shores, the captain of the good ship, chartered for eternity,
might have seen, almost a century later, the farthest ripple, bearing upon its
crest the divine message of John Wesley and the heavenly melody of Charles
Wesley, beating against the rude cabin door-steps of the “Spanish Mines”
where is now located the thriving city of Dubuque. For it was on November



